ACTA UNIVERSITATIS AGRICULTURAE SUECIAE

VETERINARIA 42



Comparative Genome Analysis in the Horse

Terje Raudsepp

SWEDISH UNIVERSITY OF AGRICULTURAL SCIENCES



Comparative genome analysis in the horse

Terje Raudsepp

Akademisk avhandling som för vinnande av filosofie doktorsexamen kommer att offentligen försvaras i sal 1, Klinikcentrum, Ultuna, fredagen den 29 januari, 1999, kl. 9.00.

Abstract

Comparative genome analysis is one of the ways to investigate the equine genome. In the present work this was carried out by mapping specific genes to horse chromosomes and by detecting homologous chromosomal segments between horse and other species. Zoo-FISH on equine metaphase chromosomes using human whole chromosome painting probes (WCPs) for the first time delineated homologous segments between the karyotypes of the two species. The homology was further refined using microdissected chromosome arm specific paints (ASPs) for HSA2, 5, 6, 16 and 19. The Zoo-FISH studies serve as a basis to extrapolate and efficiently transfer gene mapping data from the advanced gene maps of human/mouse to that of the horse.

An important part of any genome mapping project is mapping of specific genes. In this thesis four genes were added to the horse physical map: IGF2 using an equine specific probe, and MCIR, KIT, PDGFRA using heterologous (porcine) probes. Successful use of heterologous large insert genomic BAC clones for the assignment of individual genes across distantly related species was the first such report in farm animals, and opens new avenues for developing comparative maps in the absence of species specific gene probes. The comparative gene mapping work was further extended to donkey - another equid species. These results represent the first mapping data in the donkey and provide interesting comparative information with the closely related horse genome.

Comparison between the karyotypes of the two equid species was expanded by generating fifteen microdissected equine chromosome specific probes (all meta- and sub-metacentric autosomes and the sex chromosomes) and hybridizing them to donkey metaphase chromosomes. Eight of the equine WCPs showed one-to-one correspondence with the donkey chromosomes, one to a single arm, while six to 2-3 arms on separate chromosomes. The results provided an insight into how the two genomes are organized in relation to each other, with respect to the equine chromosomes used in the present study. An important outcome of the results was indirect deduction of homology between human and donkey karyotypes. The latter gives a basis for comparison of the donkey genome with other mammalian species.

Accumulating Zoo-FISH data between human and several non-primate species help to understand how different mammalian genomes are organized in relation to each other. Analysis of comparative chromosome painting data between distantly related species enabled identification of evolutionarily conserved whole chromosomes, large chromosomal segments and contiguous synteny combinations, that very likely comprise the karyotype of an eutherian ancestor. The equine genome comprises the focus for all investigations within the thesis, and therefore the results are discussed with special emphasis on the horse.

Keywords: horse, human, Zoo-FISH, gene mapping, heterologous FISH, chromosome microdissection, donkey, karyotype evolution.

Distribution: Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Department of Animal Breeding and Genetics Box 7023, S-750 07 UPPSALA UPPSALA 1999 ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5405-0

Comparative Genome Analysis in the Horse

Terje Raudsepp Department of Animal Breeding and Genetics Uppsala

Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 1999

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Veterinaria 42

ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5405-0 © 1999 Terje Raudsepp, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 1999

To the Donkeythe symbol of stubbornness

Abstract

Raudsepp T. 1999. Comparative genome analysis in the horse. Doctoral dissertation. ISSN 1401-6257, ISBN 91-576-5405-0

Comparative genome analysis is one of the ways to investigate the equine genome. In the present work this was carried out by mapping specific genes to horse chromosomes and by detecting homologous chromosomal segments between horse and other species. Zoo-FISH on equine metaphase chromosomes using human whole chromosome painting probes (WCPs) for the first time delineated homologous segments between the karyotypes of the two species. The homology was further refined using microdissected chromosome arm specific paints (ASPs) for HSA2, 5, 6, 16 and 19. The Zoo-FISH studies serve as a basis to extrapolate and efficiently transfer gene mapping data from the advanced gene maps of human/mouse to that of the horse.

An important part of any genome mapping project is mapping of specific genes. In this thesis four genes were added to the horse physical map: *IGF2* using an equine specific probe, and *MC1R*, *KIT*, *PDGFRA* using heterologous (porcine) probes. Successful use of heterologous large insert genomic BAC clones for the assignment of individual genes across distantly related species was the first such report in farm animals, and opens new avenues for developing comparative maps in the absence of species specific gene probes. The comparative gene mapping work was further extended to donkey - another equid species. These results represent the first mapping data in the donkey and provide interesting comparative information with the closely related horse genome.

Comparison between the karyotypes of the two equid species was expanded by generating fifteen microdissected equine chromosome specific probes (all meta- and submetacentric autosomes and the sex chromosomes) and hybridizing them to donkey metaphase chromosomes. Eight of the equine WCPs showed one-to-one correspondence with the donkey chromosomes, one to a single arm, while six to 2-3 arms on separate chromosomes. The results provided an insight into how the two genomes are organized in relation to each other, with respect to the equine chromosomes used in the present study. An important outcome of the results was indirect deduction of homology between human and donkey karyotypes. The latter gives a basis for comparison of the donkey genome with other mammalian species.

Accumulating Zoo-FISH data between human and several non-primate species help to understand how different mammalian genomes are organized in relation to each other. Analysis of comparative chromosome painting data between distantly related species enabled identification of evolutionarily conserved whole chromosomes, large chromosomal segments and contiguous synteny combinations, that very likely comprise the karyotype of an eutherian ancestor. The equine genome comprises the focus for all investigations within the thesis, and therefore the results are discussed with special emphasis on the horse.

Keywords: horse, human, Zoo-FISH, gene mapping, heterologous FISH, chromosome microdissection, donkey, karyotype evolution.

Author's address: Terje Raudsepp, Department of Animal Breeding and Genetics, SLU, Box 7023, S-75007 Uppsala, Sweden.

| Contents | |
|--|----|
| Introduction | 9 |
| 1.Mammalian genomes | 9 |
| 1.1 Background | 9 |
| 1.2 Genome organization | 10 |
| 1.3 Genome conservation | 10 |
| 2.Comparative mapping | 12 |
| 2.1 What is a comparative map | 12 |
| 2.2 Historical background | 13 |
| 2.3 Approaches for constructing comparative maps | 15 |
| 2.3.1 Genetic linkage analysis | 15 |
| 2.3.2 Somatic cell hybrid (SCH) analysis | 16 |
| 2.3.3 Radiation hybrid (RH) analysis | 17 |
| 2.3.4 In situ hybridization (ISH) | 17 |
| 2.3.5 Comparative chromosome painting and allied techniques | 19 |
| 3.Genome analysis in the horse | 27 |
| 3.1 Main objectives of equine gene mapping | 27 |
| 3.2 Present status of the equine gene map | 27 |
| 3.2.1 Genetic linkage map | 28 |
| 3.2.2 SCH syntenic map | 28 |
| 3.2.3 Cytogenetic map | 29 |
| 3.3 Karyotype evolution in the equids | 31 |
| Aims of this thesis | 35 |
| An overview of the salient findings of the thesis | 37 |
| 1. Zoo-FISH analysis between human and horse (papers I, II, III) | 37 |
| 2. Comparative mapping in horse and donkey using homologous and | 39 |
| heterologous FISH (papers II, V) | 42 |
| 3. Comparative chromosome painting in donkey (papers V, VI) | 44 |
| 4. Emerging patterns of comparative genome organization in some mammals as revealed by Zoo-FISH (paper IV) | 44 |
| Conclusions | 48 |
| Future prospects | 50 |
| References | 53 |
| Acknowledgements | 70 |

.

Appendix I-VI

The present thesis is based on the following papers, which will be referred to by their Roman numerals

I. Raudsepp T, Frönicke L, Scherthan H, Gustavsson I, Chowdhary BP (1996). Zoo-FISH delineates conserved chromosomal segments in horse and man. *Chromosome Res.* 4, 218-225.

II. Raudsepp T, Otte K, Rozell B, Chowdhary BP (1997). FISH mapping of the *IGF2* gene in horse and donkey - detection of homoeology with HSA11. *Mamm. Genome* 8, 569-572.

III. Chaudhary R, Raudsepp T, Guan X-Y, Zhang H, Chowdhary BP (1998). Zoo-FISH with microdissected arm specific paints for HSA2, 5, 6, 16, and 19 refines known homology with pig and horse chromosomes. *Mamm. Genome* 9, 44-49.

IV. Chowdhary BP, Raudsepp T, Frönicke L, Scherthan H (1998). Emerging patterns of comparative genome organization in some mammalian species as revealed by Zoo-FISH. *Genome Res.* 8, 577-589.

V. Raudsepp T, Kijas J, Godard S, Guérin G, Andersson L, Chowdhary BP (1998). Comparison of horse chromosome 3 with donkey and human chromosomes using cross species painting and heterologous FISH mapping. *Mamm. Genome* (in press).

VI. Raudsepp T and Chowdhary BP (1998). Construction of chromosome specific paints for meta-and submetacentric autosomes and the sex chromosomes in horse, and their use to detect homologous chromosomal segments in donkey. *Chromosome Res.* (in press).

Papers I-IV are reproduced in the thesis with kind permission of the journals concerned

Abbreviations used in the thesis

•

| ASP | - chromosome arm specific paint |
|-------|---|
| BAC | - bacterial artificial chromosome |
| bp | - base pair |
| BTA | - Bos taurus (cattle) |
| CATS | - comparative anchored tagged sequences |
| cM | - centimorgan |
| CSL | chromosome specific library |
| DNA | - deoxyribonucleic acid |
| EAS | - Equus asinus (donkey) |
| ECA | - Equus caballus (horse) |
| EST | - expressed sequence tag |
| FISH | - fluorescent in situ hybridization |
| HSA | - Homo sapiens (human) |
| ISH | - in situ hybridization |
| kb | - kilobase pair |
| LG | - linkage group |
| Mb | - megabase pair |
| mtDNA | - mitochondrial DNA |
| Myr | - millions of years |
| PAC | - P1-derived artificial chromosome |
| PCR | - polymerase chain reaction |
| RH | - radiation hybrid |
| SCH | - somatic cell hybrid |
| SSC | - Sus scrofa (pig) |
| STS | - sequence tagged site |
| TOAST | - traced orthologous amplified sequence tag |
| UMP | - universal mapping probe |
| WCP | - whole chromosome paint |
| YAC | - yeast artificial chromosome |
| | |

Introduction

1. Mammalian genomes

1.1 Background

The evolutionary history of placental mammals (subclass Eutheria) dates back to Palaeocene, when the major adaptive radiation explosively started and gave rise to 18-19 extant eutherian orders with approximately 4,000 species. Thus, the genomes of some of the present day mammalian species, especially human, mouse and the livestock species, diverged 65-100 million years (Myr) ago, and have since then evolved separately (Benton 1990; Graur 1993; Arnason et al. 1996a). This evolution proceeded with disparate rates and mechanisms, in the different groups. For example, genome and karyotype evolution has been rapid with extensive inter- and intrachromosomal rearrangements in some groups, e.g., rodents and equids (Ryder et al. 1978; Sumner 1990; Qumsiyeh 1994; Comparative Genome Organization...1996), while quite conservative in the others, e.g., bovids and cetaceans (Evans et al. 1973; Buckland and Evans 1978; Arnason 1977; Sumner 1990; Gallagher and Womack 1992; Gallagher et al. 1994).

Man started to domesticate animals around 10,000 years ago. Since then, livestock genomes have been manipulated without a clear idea of what lies behind phenotypic variation. The first steps to develop such an understanding were, however, taken almost a century ago, when simple experiments were conducted to test how "characters" are inherited. This was the beginning of a new era where several workers tried to comprehend the structure, organization and function of the inherited component. The work of G. Mendel led to the proposition that each heritable property of an organism is controlled by a factor, which today is called a "gene". Further, the idea that genes reside in chromosomes was proposed by W. Sutton. The suggestion received experimental support from T. H. Morgan and his colleagues who introduced one of the first concepts of gene mapping, i.e. "linkage" (Morgan 1910).

On the molecular level, the discovery of the biochemical nature and structure of deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), and the pathway of flow of genetic information from nucleus to cytoplasm gave a new dimension to genome studies during the 1950s. However, on the cytogenetic level, understanding genome organization was influenced primarily by achievements in chromosome studies during the 1960s through the '70s. From then onwards, series of advancements in areas such as recombinant DNA technology, DNA sequencing methods, polymerase chain reaction (PCR), positional cloning, etc., have revolutionized mammalian genome analysis. The list of discoveries is constantly expanding. Consequently, there are now better possibilities to uncover hidden details of different genomes, and to utilize the information in a constructive way for the welfare of animals and mankind alike.

Despite millions of years of divergent evolution in thousands of eutherian species, the mammalian genomes appear to be highly conserved in size, gene number and general organization. It is now evident that about 99.99% of the genetic information of any mammalian cell lies in the nuclear DNA. The haploid genome comprises around 3×10^9 base pairs (bp), which are packed into complex but microscopically distinct structures - the chromosomes. The majority of the nuclear DNA consists of non-coding sequences (various kinds of repetitive DNA, introns, pseudogenes) which are variable between species. However, about 3% of the DNA comprises specific protein coding sequences - the genes. The number of genes in a mammalian genome is estimated to be between 70,000-100,000 (Cavalier-Smith 1985; Nowak 1994). Comparisons of various genes hitherto studied indicate a moderate to high degree of sequence homology even between distantly related species (Comparative Genome Organization...1996). In addition to the nuclear DNA, a small amount of genetic information lies also in the mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), which encodes fewer than 40 genes, and is inherited maternally through egg cytoplasm (see Stoneking and Soodyall 1996). The mutation rate in mitochondrial genes is reported to be about 10-fold higher than in nuclear genes (Brown et al. 1979). Hence, in several studies mtDNA has been used for phylogenetic comparisons.

Chromosomes, which have long been considered as carriers of hereditary material, morphologically comprise a *centromere* somewhere along the length of the chromosome, and *telomeres* at either ends. The centromeric position helps to classify the chromosomes into three main categories: metacentric, submetacentric and acrocentric. Morphology (as decided by their size and centromeric position) and number of chromosomes are specific for a species. Therefore, each species has a unique karyotype, which represents specific organization of it's diploid set of chromosomes. During early 1970s, the arrangement of the chromosomes into a karyotype was further elaborated with the help of unique banding patterns for each pair of homologous chromosomes (see Sumner 1990).

In spite of similar genome size and gene number in mammals, chromosome number varies considerably among species. Most extreme examples range from Indian muntjac with 2n=6/7 to South American rodent (*Tympanoctomys barrerae*) with 2n=102 (see Qumsiyeh 1994). The highest diploid numbers among domestic animals are reported in dog (2n=78), followed by horse (2n=64) and cattle/goat (2n=60). Buffalo (2n=48-50) and sheep (2n=54) fall in the medium range while cat (2n=38) and pig (2n=38) are on the lower side of the count.

1.3 Genome conservation

It was as early as 1927 when J.B.S. Haldane (1927) observed that phenotypically similar traits were linked in more than one species forecasting an "ancestral togetherness" (later coined as "conserved syntenies/linkages"). However, first molecular/biochemical evidence to this effect was shown only during the '70s by comparative mapping. For example, two carbonic anhydrase loci shown to be linked in guinea pig (Carter 1972), pig-tailed macaque (De Simone et al. 1973) and mouse (Eicher et al. 1976). Similarly, association between two amylase loci in humans and mouse (Merritt et al. 1972; Kaplan et al. 1973); and of different esterases in mouse and rat (Womack and Sharp 1976) was also reported. Since then, more and more illustrations of conserved syntenies and linkages became evident, though the data mainly comprised information from humans and rodents.

Until the 1970s, most evidence concerning evolutionary conservation of genome structure in mammals was adducted from karyotype studies. Almost identical banding patterns and gene content of the X-chromosome among a large cross-section of mammals suggested that at least some long-term evolutionary conservation of chromosome structure had occurred (Ohno et al. 1964, Pathak and Stock 1974). Chromosome banding studies in the autosomes too revealed conservation of chromosome organization not only among members within individual mammalian groups (e.g., carnivores, bovids, cetaceans etc.), but also between species belonging to distantly related groups (e.g., rodents and primates, lagomorphs and primates, rodents and carnivores, human and cattle, human and mouse, etc.; see Kiel et al. 1985; Sawyer and Hozier 1986; Sumner 1990, Rønne 1992). In some cases, the data were strongly supported with the presence of the same group of genes (e.g., humans vs. mouse; Lalley et al. 1978; Sawyer and Hozier 1986; see O'Brien et al. 1988). Similarities between banding patterns in euchromatic regions (regions where most of the genes are located) of certain chromosomal segments across species, in general, reflected homology in their genetic content (see Baker et al. 1987; Sumner 1990).

If genome organization is conserved among a wide range of mammalian species, why is there variation in the diploid number of their chromosomes? A plausible explanation to this is that during karyotype evolution, multiple rearrangements scrambled the ancestral synteny assemblages into a variety of combinations in different lineages. In cases where the ancestral configuration underwent a less degree of rearrangements, chromosome banding homologies (and sometimes even morphology) were conserved between species. However, when the rearrangements were extensive, both morphology and banding patterns were not comparable. These views, which emerged through cytogenetic analysis and early gene mapping data, appeared the most reasonable answer to conjoin karyotype diversity and conservation between studied mammalian species.

Detailed cytogenetic analysis and construction of gene maps in a variety of species have added to our curiosity about the comparative aspects of different mammalian genomes. The past decade has witnessed a significant progress in farm animal genome analysis. The number of loci hitherto mapped in some of the livestock species is now second only to humans and rodents. These achievements, together with new set of tools recently available, have significantly increased the power to obtain a broader comparative view of distantly related genomes. All this progress has transformed comparative genome analysis into a full fledged area of research.

2. Comparative mapping

Comparative genomics has become an integral part of present day mammalian genome analysis. The core concept of comparing genomes has not changed much over the years. However, the list of components defining a comparative map has considerably expanded. It would, therefore, be timely to put forward a clear definition of a "comparative map", where the components are distinctly identified.

2.1 What is a comparative map?

Comparisons between genomes of two species can only be carried out if each of them has a "map". For any meaningful comparison between two maps, it is important that the set of parameters measured should be the same. As pointed out earlier, the two major components of a genome are the *coding* and *non-coding* sequences. The latter cannot be used for comparison because of their low degree of conservation between species. The former, which represents specific genes, is thus the obvious choice for comparison because their sequences are moderately to highly conserved even between distantly related species (O'Brien 1991; O'Brien et al. 1993). The next issue is how to compare?

Chromosomes represent a basic image of a genome. Comparative location of the same set of genes in different genomes can be viewed as one of the definitions of a comparative map. It, however, needs to be stressed that "location" is a rather later addition to the concept of comparative map. During the early days of genome analysis, when accurate chromosome numbers were not known for most of the species, location was indirectly defined through tendency of a pair of genes to segregate together. Although detailed chromosome knowledge added a new dimension to comparative maps, the basic concept of co-segregation of genes continues to be one of the primary ways of comparing genomes.

To distinguish specific genes as the main landmarks of a comparative map from a number of other sets of markers, the term "Type I" markers was introduced (O'Brien 1991; O'Brien et al. 1993). Another set of markers, the Type II markers (e.g., microsatellites, minisatellites, short and long interspersed nuclear elements, random amplified polymorphic DNA, etc.), were initially considered unsuitable for cross species comparison. However, during recent years, it has also been possible to use Type II markers across species within a family (e.g., bovidae; Womack and Kata 1995; Prakash et al. 1997; Piumi et al. 1998) or order (e.g., Artiodactyls; Prakash et al. 1996). Thus, with regards to closely related species, these markers can be referred to as "comparable".

During the past 2-3 years, a new set of comparable markers has emerged. They are not necessarily defined genes but represent cognate sites across genomes, sometimes only 25-400 bp long. Generally, they all are conserved sequence tagged sites (STSs) derived from evolutionarily conserved regions of the genome. However, when they originate from coding-regions, they are referred to as expressed sequence tagged sites (ESTs). STSs/ESTs are mapped either by direct filter/ *in situ* hybridization or using the PCR approach. A new term "Zoo-PCR" has been proposed to note PCR amplification of STSs across diverged species (Mazzarella et al. 1992).

Another class of comparative markers are the universal mapping probes (UMPs) which are DNA segments less than 15 kb in size, containing conserved sequences immediately adjoined by a highly polymorphic CA repeat site. The conserved region determines physical gene location, whereas the CA repeat facilitates genetic mapping (Hino et al 1993). Further, comparative anchored tagged sequences (CATS; Lyons et al. 1997) and traced orthologous amplified sequence tags (TOASTs; Jiang et al. 1998) represent PCR primer based comparative markers which have been used across species. Basically both types contain conserved and variable elements, which help in PCR based linkage, somatic cell and radiation hybrid mapping. All these new generation markers are gradually becoming an integral part of comparative maps, thus providing a new vision to correspondence between genomes.

2.2 Historical background

Ever since mankind started addressing questions regarding inheritance of traits from parents to offspring, either in humans or in different animals surrounding them, a basic sense of "genome comparison" kindled their inquisitiveness. Later, with the development of science, and beginning of an era of organized genetic studies to trace how phenotypic traits segregated from one generation to another, comparative genomics started getting a framework. The advent of linkage analysis during early 1900, enabled geneticists to initiate comparisons between the nascent gene maps of, for example, humans, rabbit and mouse (Castle 1924; see Sinnott et al. 1950). However, with limited mapping information available on different genomes, at this stage meaningful comparisons were not possible.

Correspondence between linkages on the X-chromosome among some mammals can always be looked upon as a landmark in the development of comparative maps (Sinnott et al. 1950; see Ohno 1970). Mapping of the same gene(s) on the X-chromosome in two or more species (e.g., hemophilia A and B both in humans and dogs; Hutt et al. 1948) provided first comparative status for loci on the X-chromosome. Linkage of M-N blood types and sickle cell anemia (Snyder 1949) marked the beginning of autosomal linkage among humans, which in turn provided basis for comparing autosomal linkage with other mammalian species. However, it was only early during this century that accurate chromosome numbers in different species became known. This consequently provided the stimulus to know "what maps where", thus initiating organized mapping in human and mouse. Later, gene mapping studies also started in rat, rabbit and cat, whereby a broader platform for comparisons between genomes became available.

Although initially, the rabbit and cat gene maps contained <50 loci (Fox and van Zutphen 1979; Echard et al. 1981; O'Brien and Nash 1982; see O'Brien 1990), the outcome was exciting because the synteny/linkage between genes very closely mimicked that observed in humans. In some cases, the findings strongly supported earlier suggested banding homologies with human chromosomes (Nash and O'Brien 1982; see Lemieux and Dutrillaux 1992). The remarkable degree of synteny conservation between cat and human suddenly graded cat as a "model animal" for investigating various human conditions. Presently, there are over 30 feline analogues of human inherited diseases (O'Brien et al. 1997b). Since the mid '80s, however, only limited progress has been made in expanding the cat or rabbit gene maps. On the other hand, the human, mouse and rat maps have steadily developed over the years, and are therefore providing interesting comparative information with respect to each other, as well as other mammalian species (Levan et al. 1991; Levan et al. 1993; Szpirer et al. 1998). Presently, the human gene map is the most advanced, followed by mouse and rat. With over 7,000 and 1,000 specific genes mapped (GDB), respectively, in the latter two species, their comparative maps are fairly informative.

Among the livestock species, sporadic gene mapping data in pigs was already available during the early 60s. The work centered primarily around blood groups and their linkage relationships. For over two decades, only 20-25 new loci were added in pigs (see Chowdhary 1998a). The halothane linkage group was the highlight of the pig gene map because it was extensively studied by several groups around the world (Andresen 1971, 1979; Jörgensen et al. 1976; Rasmusen 1981). However, the overall genome information in pigs was too little for comparisons with the human gene map. In contrast, gene mapping in cattle got a more systematic start, thanks to the efforts invested in constructing a cattle x hamster somatic cell hybrid panel during the early '80s (Womack and Moll 1986). Of the 35 loci allocated to 24 syntenic groups in cattle, 32 represented homologous genes mapped in human and mouse. Within another 3-4 years, the number of loci as well as syntenic groups expanded. Consequently, numerous conserved syntenies were detected between human and cattle, indicating that the two genomes share larger regions of conserved synteny than that shared between human and mouse (Womack and Moll 1986; Fries et al. 1989). Thus, in terms of a true comparative map in farm animals, the cattle gene map provided a lead (see Womack 1993).

Organized gene mapping in pigs was initiated during the latter half of the '80s. Consequently, a basic comparative map in pigs was available only 5-6 years ago (see Chowdhary 1991). The present day pig gene map is undoubtedly the second most developed map among the livestock species. Gene mapping has also progressed in sheep and goat. Although the number of mapped loci in the two species remained low for a long period, concerted efforts by some laboratories during the past few years have considerably expanded their maps (Iannuzzi et al. 1997; Burkin et al. 1998; Schibler et al. 1998). The progress is attributed mainly to the gains made in cattle gene mapping. Similarly, success in developing gene map in buffalos also relies primarily on readily transferable information from cattle. Today, over 500 genes have been mapped in cattle, >220 in pigs, >200 in sheep and goats and around 50 in river buffalo (GDB; Iannuzzi et al. 1997; Schibler et al. 1998). The progress is significant in terms of furnishing comparative information with regards to the advanced gene maps in humans and mouse. Among livestock, horse is one of the species which received attention of the geneticists very late. Autosomal linkage studies in early 1980s were among the first to provide comparative mapping data between horse and other mammalian species (Andersson et al. 1983a, b). Organized international efforts to initiate gene mapping in horse (The First Equine Gene Mapping Workshop 1995) started only during the past couple of years and have expanded the equine gene map by almost 10-folds. Presently, over 50 genes are mapped in horse. This serves as a ground-work for comparative studies with humans and other species with advanced gene maps. Lastly, it needs to be mentioned that gross molecular chromosomal comparisons (referred to as Zoo-FISH) is also one of the approaches which has greatly added to our knowledge about the comparative status of several livestock/mammalian genomes. These will, however, be discussed in details in the section below.

2.3 Approaches for constructing comparative maps

Several mapping approaches have contributed significantly towards the development of gene maps, which in turn has helped geneticists in relating one genome to another. Some techniques tell us about the relative order of the genes, while others simply assign genes to chromosomes or even to specific locations on them. Because each of these techniques facilitate genome comparison in a special way, they are very briefly discussed individually, to provide an overview about how they add to comparative maps.

2.3.1 Genetic linkage analysis

A linkage map shows relative order of loci within a genome. Distances between loci do not correspond to physical distances but to recombination frequency between the pair or set of loci investigated. Closer are the markers, greater are the chances of their co-segregation during meiosis. Linked loci can be tagged to a specific chromosome if one or more of them are physically mapped to a chromosome (see below). In a fairly well developed linkage map, all loci present on the same chromosome are "linked". Thus, as a map progresses, the number of linkage groups in a species corresponds to the number of haploid chromosomes. The basic prerequisites for constructing genetic linkage maps are i) good family material and ii) availability of polymorphic markers.

In the majority of the livestock species, linkage maps have been established using a range of polymorphic markers on family material generated by crossing as diverse breeds as possible. For example, in pigs, the family material comprises of F2 and F3 generation offspring from crosses between Large White (Swedish Yorkshire) x Wild pig (Andersson et al. 1994), Large White x Chinese Mehishan/Minzhu (Schook et al. 1994); in cattle, from crosses between Bos taurus x B. indicus and B. taurus x B. gaur (Womack 1993; see Lyons et al. 1994); in cat from crosses between Felis catus x F. bengalensis (Lyons et al. 1994), and so on (horse discussed in details later). During recent years, attempts have been made in pigs and

cattle, to merge maps generated from different sources. Also, an international mapping panel is being developed in each species, to co-ordinate mapping results from different groups around the world.

Of the various markers hitherto linkage mapped in different farm animals, a large proportion (ranging from 70-85%) are Type II, and therefore not the best suited for direct genome comparisons between species. Nevertheless, the remaining 15-30% of the linked markers, which encode for specific genes, are useful in comparing their relative order and map distances across species, thus detecting conservation and/or rearrangements. A classical illustration of the practical utility of comparative linkage maps is the study of malignant hyperthermia in humans and pigs. Comparison of linked markers in the two species demonstrated extensive conservation, which helped to discover a mutation in the ryanodine receptor gene as the cause of the disease (McCarthy et al. 1990; Fujii et al. 1991).

2.3.2 Somatic cell hybrid (SCH) analysis

Synteny means on the same chromosome, and a synteny map simply represents a list of loci known to reside on the same chromosome in a particular species. The basic method for building synteny maps is through the construction of a somatic cell hybrid panel by fusing cell lines of two species (Gross and Harris 1975), one of which is the species in which the map is to be made. Analysis of pairs of genes in a SCH panel reveals concordance or discordance of their retention, thus showing their synteny or asynteny, respectively. The main methods for analyzing SCH panel are enzyme electrophoresis, Southern blotting and PCR amplification with species specific primers (see Kao 1983; Dionne and Jaye 1993). The latter is nowadays the most extensively used approach. The precision of synteny mapping depends on how well the hybrid clones are characterized cytogenetically as well as through mapping of a sufficient number of markers. Once the chromosome segments are accurately characterized, it is possible to assign markers even to segments/bands of individual chromosomes.

At present several SCH panels are available for all main livestock species, and the PCR based mapping approach has revolutionized physical assignment of genes, ESTs, microsatellites and anonymous DNA segments in cattle (Ma et al. 1998), sheep (Burkin et al. 1998), pigs (Yerle et al. 1996; Zijlstra et al. 1996), horses (Shiue et al. 1998) and buffalos (El Nahas et al. 1996). Gene maps of some species, like cat, are almost exclusively based on SCH analysis (O'Brien et al. 1997 a, b). The main drawback of this method, however, is that it shows synteny but not gene order or genetic distances, as is revealed through linkage maps. Nevertheless, the possibility to map any kind of DNA sequences, including Type I or non-polymorphic markers, is an advantage of the method. Like linkage maps, syntenic maps have also contributed significantly in deducing comparison between genomes of different species. RH mapping is basically a SCH technique with the difference that before fusion of cell lines, the whole or partial genome of the species of interest is exposed to high doses of X-ray irradiation that causes fragmentation of chromosomes (e.g., see Cox et al. 1990). RH mapping shows not only synteny between loci, but also helps to analyse physical distance between them. The farther apart two markers are on a chromosome, the greater are the chances that they will be separated by X-ray treatment and vice versa. The range of resolution of RH maps is dependent on the irradiation dosage applied.

RH mapping enables the integration of linkage maps based on polymorphic markers with non-polymorphic Type I markers. The technique has proved to be a powerful tool for high resolution mapping in human and mouse (McCarthy 1996; McCarthy et al. 1997; Stewart et al. 1997; Flaherty and Herron 1998). Among farm animals, whole genome RH panels have been recently constructed for cattle (Womack et al. 1997) and pigs (Alexander et al. 1998; Yerle et al. 1998). In pigs over 1,000 microsatellite and Type I markers have been mapped with the RH panel (Alexander et al. 1998). Because the resolution of RH maps exceeds that of linkage and cytogenetic maps, it provides a new perspective for constructing high resolution ordered comparative maps between species. The very recent comparison between HSA17 and BTA19 using RH maps is one of the best examples of the power of parallel RH mapping for comparative purposes (Yang and Womack 1998; Yang et al. 1998).

2.3.4 In situ hybridization (ISH)

In situ hybridization is a technique which is widely used in several branches of biology. However, with reference to gene mapping, the technique allows direct visualization of the location of specific genes or anonymous DNA segments on the chromosomes. The location is thus a reflection of the molecular constitution of the chromosome at that site. There are two major components of *in situ* hybridization, viz., chromomes, which are the targets, and probes, which are DNA segments of various lengths. Usually, the *target* is either metaphase or prometaphase chromosomes, but in cases where high resolution physical mapping is conducted, the chromatin fibre could either be from interphase cells or from mechanically stretched cellular DNA. The *probes*, however, vary considerably in size as well as origin. The size can range from a few base pairs (bp), e.g., the telomeric or centromeric repeat oligonucleotide sequences, to several hundred kilobases (kb) cloned in a yeast artificial chromosome (YAC) vector.

Depending on the type of ISH, the DNA probe can be labelled radioactively or non-radioactively. Radioactive ISH (RISH), which has now almost become a technique of the past, used radioactively tagged nucleotides as labels, of which tritium (³H) was most extensively used (see Chowdhary 1998a). However, from the 1980s onwards, the non-radioactive approach has progressed significantly (Pinkel et al. 1986; Lawrence et al. 1988; Lichter et al. 1991; Trask 1991 a, b), and during recent years has become the method of choice. In this approach, the DNA is labelled with nucleotides tagged with biotin, digoxigenin (DIG), di-/tri-nitrophenol, or with other labelling molecules. The hybridization is then detected with a variety of reporter molecules which have affinity to the labels. The detection can either be carried out *enzymatically* or with the help of *fluorochrome conjugates*. The latter approach, which is also referred to as fluorescent *in situ* hybridization (FISH), is the most widely used.

Although sensitivity is still a problem when small sized probes are used for FISH, several groups have successfully carried out band specific localization of 1-2 kb cDNA probes (see Trask et al. 1993; Chaudhary et al. 1997; Thomsen et al. 1998). Nevertheless, general experience shows that it is usually difficult to FISH map sequences < 2 kb in size. Conversely, targets larger than 15 kb, such as those cloned in λ phages, cosmids, BACs and YACs, can be detected with > 90% efficiency (Trask et al. 1993). The hybridization process itself, as well as the post-hybridization washing, can vary considerably depending upon the type and size of the DNA probes used. Details on individual aspects/components of ISH are described elsewhere (Lichter et al. 1991; Trask 1991 a, b; Lichter and Cremer 1992).

In the context of gene mapping, ISH normally means localization of a single probe. However, with the availability of a number of labels and reporting molecules, it has now been possible to hybridize two or more probes in one experiment (double- and multicolour FISH). The results enable ordering of the loci (if three or more are used), and even estimation of physical distances between them. Depending on the distance between the probes, ordering of the loci can be carried out by metaphase-FISH, interphase-FISH or fiber-FISH. There are reports where researchers have even been able to mechanically stretch a single chromosome and successfully order closely located clones (Claussen et al. 1994; Laan et al. 1995). The first double-colour FISH mapping experiment in farm animals was carried out to order GPI-CRC-LIPE loci on pig chromosome 6 (Chowdhary et al. 1995). Similarly, the first fiber-FISH experiments in farm animals were also carried out by the same group (Sjöberg et al. 1997a, Liu et al. 1998), and once again in pig. During the past 3-4 years, the two techniques, together with another development referred to as DNA combing, have added a new dimension to physical gene mapping (see Heiskanen et al. 1994; Palotie et al. 1996; Kraus et al. 1997).

The different FISH approaches discussed above make it necessary to give a brief overview of their resolution. The closest distance resolvable between two loci on metaphase chromosomes is 1-3 Mb (megabase pairs) (Lawrence et al. 1990; Lawrence et al. 1992). This range varies with the degree of contraction of the chromosomes. In interphase FISH, probes 25-50 kb apart can be readily resolved from each other (Lawrence et al. 1992). However, if a set of probes are separated more than 750 kb, the reliability of order is low due to the constant twisting of the chromatin fiber in the interphase stage. Fiber-FISH on the other hand enables to distinguish probes separated by 1-2 kb (optimistically). Probes more than 350-400 kb apart are less suitable to be studied using this approach. This is attributed to the tendency of the DNA fibers to break beyond the 400-500 kb level, when they are mechanically stretched on glass slides (Heiskanen et al. 1994; Palotie et al. 1996). Among livestock, pig was the first animal where ISH was applied. Using the radioactive approach, the porcine major histocompatibility complex locus was assigned to specific chromosomal bands (Geffrotin et al. 1984; Rabin et al. 1985; Echard et al. 1986). However, it was not before 1988 that ISH was routinely applied for chromosomal localization of markers in pig, cattle and horse. The technique was gradually extended to other species like sheep, goat, buffalo, dog, fox etc., and has now been applied to almost all livestock species. As mentioned earlier, the initial phase (at least for five years in farm animals) of *in situ* work extensively used the radioactive approach. However, thereafter, the trend gradually shifted to the use of the FISH approach. Like in other species, today the latter has almost completely replaced RISH.

One of the major contributions of the ISH technique to gene mapping in farm animals is the assignment of syntenic and linkage groups to specific chromosomes. During the primary stages of gene mapping this was crucial in aligning the physical and genetic linkage maps. Thereafter, with the map building up, ISH data kept on showing how the two maps related to each other. Initially, the basic cytogenetic map in the farm species was constructed on a random mapping basis, i.e., the loci ISH mapped were randomly chosen. However, as the map grew, it started becoming evident which areas of the genome require mapping of more markers. Thus, ISH has been constantly needed to see whether i) coverage with markers is spanning the entire length of individual chromosomes, and ii) there is a homogenous distribution of markers on all chromosomes. Consequently, sufficient number of ISH localizations in pig and cattle helped to develop a consensus map (Ellegren et al. 1994; Rohrer et al. 1996; Ferretti et al. 1997).

As pointed out earlier, specific genes form a small proportion of the total loci mapped in each farm animal species. Like other maps (linkage or syntenic maps), this also holds good for the ISH based cytogenetic maps. At present, there are over 200 *in situ* mapped genes in cattle, sheep and goats (Schibler et al. 1998), more than 150 in pigs (see Chowdhary 1998a) and around 30 in horses (see section below). Nevertheless, the cytogenetic maps have provided a visual basis for detecting homologous segments/ chromosomes across species by demonstrating physical order and distances of syntenic/linked genes. The technique has thus made a vital contribution in enhancing our knowledge about comparative organization of different genomes.

2.3.5 Comparative chromosome painting and allied techniques

Before discussing comparative chromosome painting in details, it will be useful to briefly describe the sources - flow sorted and microdissected chromosomes - which contribute to probe preparation. The discussion of the sources is further essential because the approach which creates them also contributes to gene mapping in other ways.

<u>Chromosome</u> flow sorting: The technique separates individual chromosomes of a given species using a fluorescence activated cell sorter

system (FACS). Because the exhibited fluorescence of a chromosome is proportional to the DNA content and AT/GC rich regions, it is possible to separate individual chromosomes (Lebo 1982; Lebo and Bastian 1982). The procedure results in generating a flow karyotype, distinguishing each chromosome (Lebo 1982). Once separated and collected, DNA from individual chromosomes can be either directly amplified using, e.g., degenerated oligonucleotide primers (DOP; Telenius et al. 1992), or used for library construction (Collins et al. 1991). In both cases, whole chromosome specific DNA is available as a composite probe for FISH applications in clinical cytogenetics, comparative painting, cloning and gene mapping.

Flow sorting was first used to generate chromosome specific libraries (CSLs) in human (Collins et al. 1991; Vooijs et al. 1993). Over the years these libraries have been extensively used for genome analysis in humans. However, during recent years, human CSLs have also been used as composite probes to detect cross species chromosome homology. Besides humans, flow karyotypes have been generated for mouse (Rabbits et al. 1995), pig (Langford et al. 1993; Yerle et al. 1993); dog (Langford et al. 1997a), cat (Wienberg et al. 1997), and some non-domestic species. Although, compared to humans, very little has been done with the CSLs generated in farm animals (see Chowdhary 1998a), the success in humans shows how animal geneticists can harness this resource.

<u>Chromosome microdissection</u>: An alternative to flow sorting for generating chromosome specific probes is chromosome microdissection. A schematic drawing showing the main steps and procedures of chromosome microdissection is presented in Fig. 1. The technique was already initiated 18 years ago by isolating DNA from Drosophila polytene chromosomes (Scalenghe et al. 1981). In times to come, the method was modified and improved by introduction of PCR (Lüdecke et al. 1989; Senger et al. 1990), use of universal primers (Telenius et al. 1992) and Topoisomerase treatment (Guan et al. 1993). Presently it has developed into one of the most direct means for isolating DNA from any chromosomal region of an organism (Cannizzaro 1996). Further, whole chromosome or even arms, regions or single band ranging from 5-100 Mb can readily be microdissected.

In humans, chromosomal microdissection has found a broad range of applications. Microdissected whole chromosomal or partial probes can be used as paints for i) detection of tiny structural rearrangements undetectable with conventional cytogenetic techniques, ii) isolating marker chromosomes from malignant cells (Johnson et al. 1992), iii) identifying the origin of double minutes (Rajcan-Separovic et al. 1995), iv) detecting translocation breakpoints (Rubtsov et al. 1996), v) prenatal diagnostics (Müller-Navia et al. 1995), etc. (see for review Ried et al. 1998). Further, microdissected DNA has been used for generating libraries from regions deleted or amplified in malignancies (Guan et al. 1992; Guan et al. 1996) and from translocation breakpoints in cancer (Zhang et al. 1995). Such microlibraries have been screened for isolating microsatellites, sequence tagged sites (STSs) and genes (Gingrich et al. 1996; Meltzer et al. 1997; Yu et al. 1997). Lastly, regional microlibraries have also been used for screening genomic libraries (cosmid, BAC or YAC) and cDNA libraries to isolate clones



Figure 1. Schematic representation of chromosome microdissection showing possible applications in genome analysis.

specific to the region of interest (Karakawa et al. 1993; Chen-Liu et al. 1995; Choi et al. 1996; Gracia et al. 1997).

Contrary to this, chromosome microdissection has, as yet, found limited use in domestic animal gene mapping. There are only a few reports about microcloning and marker development from defined chromosomal regions in cattle (Schmutz et al. 1994; Goldammer et al. 1996; Weikard et al. 1997), pigs (Ambady et al. 1997; Chaudhary et al. 1998), horse (Bowling et al. 1998; Chowdhary et al. 1998) and chicken (Shaw et al. 1996; Zimmer et al. 1997). However, during the recent past, this technique has found some use in detecting cross species chromosomal homology, and has partially helped in resolving questions about comparative genome organization (discussed later).

<u>Comparative chromosome painting - Zoo-FISH</u>: Mapping of individual genes for comparative purposes is a time consuming endeavour which gives only patchy information on chromosome homology between species. Cross species conservation of synteny/linkage between genes is generally taken as a reflection of homology for segments lying between these genes. However, this extrapolation of information may or may not be true and might therefore need validation. Comparative chromosome painting, also referred to as Zoo-FISH, helps in overcoming this problem and fairly precisely delineates homologous chromosomal regions between species (see Chowdhary 1998b). As evident from the term, this is a FISH-based approach, where whole or partial chromosome specific paints from one species are used as probes on metaphase chromosomes of another species (Fig. 2 b). Depending on the evolutionary distance between the species involved, Zoo-FISH can be divided into two major categories:

1. Painting between closely related species belonging to the same mammalian order or family: Initial success with cross species chromosome painting was first reported between human and great apes (Wienberg et al. 1990; Jauch et al. 1992). Presently, all human chromosome specific paints have been applied to metaphase chromosomes of 10 different primate species (see Table 1. for references). As a step further in refining some of these homologies, chromosome specific paints from gibbon and two lemur species were painted back to human metaphase chromosomes (Arnold et al. 1996; Müller et al. 1997) - a process referred to as reversed painting (Fig. 2 c). With the availability of flow sorted or microdissected chromosome specific paints for more species, comparative painting studies have now been carried out also within suids, cervids, rodents, marsupials and bovids (see Table 1 for details). The findings of all these investigations have mainly helped in understanding karyotype evolution within these orders. Further, in some cases, it has also helped in direct transfer of genetic information from the developed/partially-developed maps of one species to those which are less developed.

2. Comparative chromosome painting between distantly related species: Closely related species share a high degree of sequence homology which makes the use of chromosome specific paints straightforward within the group. However, extension of this concept to distantly related species was



Figure 2. Schematic representation of (a) main principles of chromosome painting, (b) Zoo-FISH with WCP and (c) refined Zoo-FISH using ASPs or reverse painting.

Table 1. Zoo-FISH between closely related species within a mammalian order or family. Arrow indicates "species of origin of the paints—species investigated".

Human→Primates

| Human /I Imates | | | |
|--|--|--|--|
| Macaque, Macaca fuscata | Wienberg et al. 1992 | | |
| Gibbon, Concolor gibbon | Koehler et al. 1995b | | |
| Siamang, Hylobates syndactylus | Koehler et al. 1995a | | |
| Marmoset, Callithrix jacchus | Sherlock et al. 1996 | | |
| Red howler monkey, Alouatta seniculus sara; A. s. | Consigliere et al. 1996 | | |
| arctoidea | | | |
| Capuchin monkey, Cebus capucinus | Richard et al. 1996 | | |
| Black-handed spider monkey, Ateles geoffroyi | Morescalchi et al. 1997 | | |
| Silvered leaf monkey Presbytis cristata | Bigoni et al. 1997 | | |
| Hylobates hoolock | Yu et al. 1997 | | |
| Eulemur macaco macaco and E. fulvus mayottensis | Müller et al. 1997 | | |
| Gorilla, Gorilla gorilla | Stanyon et al. 1992 | | |
| Six lemur species | Apiou et al. 1996; Vezuli | | |
| | et al. 1997 | | |
| Bovids | | | |
| Cattle→sheep, goat, buffalo (X-chromosome) | Ponce De Leon et al. | | |
| | 1996; Hassanane et al. | | |
| ~ | 1998 | | |
| Cervids | | | |
| Indian muntjac \rightarrow Chinese muntjac, Gongshan, | Yang et al. 1995 | | |
| Brown brocket deer | | | |
| Bovids →cervids | | | |
| Sheep→Indian muntjac | Burkin et al. 1997b | | |
| Suids | | | |
| Domestic pig→babirusa | Bosma et al. 1996 | | |
| | | | |
| Suids→bovids | | | |
| Pig→cattle | Schmitz et al. 1998 | | |
| Equids | | | |
| | | | |
| Horse→donkey | paper VI | | |
| Horse→donkey Rodents | paper VI | | |
| | paper VI Fagundes et al. 1997 | | |
| Rodents | | | |
| Rodents Akodon cursor $\rightarrow A$. montensis Mouse \rightarrow rat | Fagundes et al. 1997 | | |
| Rodents Akodon cursor → A. montensis Mouse→rat Marsupials | Fagundes et al. 1997 Scalzi and Hozier 1998 | | |
| Rodents Akodon cursor $\rightarrow A$. montensis Mouse \rightarrow rat | Fagundes et al. 1997 | | |

initially considered less likely. This was primarily attributed to sequence divergence between the species, which in turn was expected to affect hybridization efficiency.

However, in 1994, some methodological changes in the FISH protocol were suggested (e.g., increasing probe concentration and hybridization time, changing washing stringency) which, for the first time, made it is possible to hybridize human chromosome specific paints to chromosomes of such distantly related mammals like mouse, fin whale and Indian muntjak (Scherthan et al. 1994). This also resulted in the coining of the term Zoo-FISH, which has now become synonymous to comparative or cross-species painting. After this success, human CSLs have been extensively used on the chromosomes of a wide range of mammals (15 species belonging to seven orders), among which several are domesticated/farm animals (see Table 2 for details). The results thus in several cases decipher complete homology of the human karyotype with that of the species compared.

In the majority of the Zoo-FISH studies, experiments have been unidirectional, i.e., human chromosome paints were probes while chromosomes of another species were targets. There are two reasons for this: i) human chromosome specific paints have since long been readily

| Species | No of human WCPs | Reference |
|--|-----------------------------------|---|
| PERISSODACTYLA | () OI D | |
| Horse, Equus caballus | all | paper I |
| Donkey, E. asinus | HSA4, 8, 9, 16, 21, 16p/q, 19q | |
| Hartmann's zebra, E. zebra hartmannae | HSA4, 8, 9, 16, 21 | Lear & Bailey, 1997a |
| ARTIODACTYLA | | |
| Cattle, Bos taurus | all | Hayes 1995; Solinas-Toldo et al. 1995; Chowdhary et al 1996 |
| Indian muntjac, Muntiacus muntjak vaginalis | all | Frönicke & Scherthan 1997 Yang et al. 1997 |
| Pig, Sus scrofa | all | Rettenberger et al. 1995a; Frönicke et al. 1996 |
| Sheep, Ovis aries | HSA2, 12, 17, X | Chowdhary et al. 1996 |
| CARNIVORA | all | Rettenberger et al. 1995b |
| Cat, Felis catus | | |
| Harbor seal, Phoca vitulina | all | Frönicke et al. 1997 |
| American mink, Mustela vison CETACEA | all | Hameister et al. 1997 |
| Fin whale, Balaenoptera physalus | HSA1, 16, 17, X | Scherthan et al. 1994 |
| Atlantic bottlenose dolphin, <i>Tursiops truncatus</i> INSECTIVORA | all | Bielec et al. 1998 |
| Common shrew, Sorex araneus | all | Dixkens et al. 1998 |
| LAGOMORPHA | | |
| Rabbit, Oryctolagus cuniculus | all | Korstanje et al. 1998 |
| RODENTIA | | - |
| Mouse, Mus musculus | HSA1, 16, 17, X | Scherthan et al. 1994 |

 Table 2. An overview of uni-directional Zoo-FISH with human WCPs across distantly related species.

available (commercially or as kind gifts from colleagues involved in creating them) and ii) because human is the best mapped mammal.

In addition to uni-directional painting, in some cases (pig and cat), reciprocal or reverse painting results are also available (Goureau et al. 1996; Milan et al. 1996; Wienberg et al. 1997). These findings provide a refined overview on segmental homologies between the chromosomes of the compared species. Refinement in homology can also be attained by using microdissected chromosomal arm and band specific paints (Fig. 2 c), or even large insert BAC/PAC/YAC clones across species. Success in mapping human Mega-YAC probe in cat (Wienberg and Stanyon 1995), three YAC clones from HSA2 on common shrew (Dixkens et al. 1998) and pooled human PAC clones on pig chromosomes (Frengen et al. 1997) encourages the use of this type of Zoo-FISH in mapping single copy genes.

Since the inception, Zoo-FISH has emerged as an important tool to detect comparative homology at the chromosomal level. It is considered that over 90% of the Zoo-FISH data hitherto available is in agreement with the gene mapping results (see Chowdhary 1998b). However, it also needs to be stressed that there are certain limitations of Zoo-FISH. One of these is the failure to detect small cross hybridizing segments on the chromosomes. The limit of signal detection through Zoo-FISH is suggested as 5 Mb or more (Scherthan et al. 1994), i.e., any target sequence smaller than this would be difficult to detect. Rapid expansion of gene maps in farm animals has exposed this drawback. Secondly, though Zoo-FISH shows gross chromosomal homology between species, it gives no information on intrachromosomal evolutionary rearrangements. This is best exemplified in farm animals by analysing Zoo-FISH and comparative gene mapping data between HSA3-SSC13 (Sjöberg et al. 1997b), HSA4-SSC8 (Johansson et al. 1995) and HSA17-BTA19 (Yang and Womack 1998; Yang et al. 1998). Very recent whole genome comparison between humans and ruminants has further highlighted this fact (Schibler et al. 1998).

There are several advantages of Zoo-FISH. First, the gross homology between defined chromosomal segments of two species is useful in transferring genetic information from "map rich" genomes to "map poor" genomes. This enables rapid development of gene maps in species which have fewer than needed markers on their maps. The comparative information also helps in the development of gene maps in targeted regions of a less mapped genome. The latter becomes easier if refined information on the comparative status of the segments involved in the two species is available. Such information facilitates search for candidate genes in, for example, homologous regions of the human genome, if map location of the comparable condition is known in pig or cattle. Thus Zoo-FISH maps can act as a "reference" for comparative data. Lastly, the interspecies chromosomal correspondence provided by Zoo-FISH in different mammalian species gives an insight into how these genomes are organized in relation to each other. This in turn significantly contributes in predicting the likely karyotype of their immediate ancestor and gives some clues about the probable constitution of the ancestral mammalian karyotype (paper IV, this thesis). In other words Zoo-FISH gives us an opportunity to take a look into the "black hole" of genome evolution.

3. Genome analysis in the horse

Selection in horses (*Equus caballus*, ECA) for strength, size, speed, gait, colour and conformation has been carried out ever since their domestication over 6,000 years ago (Bailey 1998). Stud books for several horse breeds of the present era go back to the late 1600s and are probably the oldest recorded pedigree for any animal population (Marti and Binns 1998; Bailey 1998). The long standing breeding interest coupled with high commercial value should have triggered genome analysis in horse, just like in other farm animal species. However, as compared to cattle, pig, sheep, goat and chicken, organized efforts to develop a gene map in the horse began only 3-4 years ago (see Marti and Binns 1998).

One of the explanations to this late start could be that horses are primarily luxury and recreation objects, and are not looked upon as basic production animals. Further, because of relatively late sexual maturity, long gestation period, seasonal breeding and large body size (Bowling 1996) they do not fulfill the ideals of a classical organism for genetic studies. Nevertheless, convincing arguments over the past few years have generated a general consensus for the need to construct a gene map for this hitherto ignored species.

3.1 Main objectives of equine gene mapping

Basic genetic linkage and physical maps are necessary to study the underlying genetics of numerous congenital disorders known in horses and find means to control them. It has also been realized that information coming out from the maps can be useful in addressing questions related to enhancement of performance traits (Bailey 1998). Further, mapping genes associated with phenotypic traits of interest like the coat colour, is of equal importance because they serve commercial interests. A skeletal horse gene map is also essential for comparative purposes.

3.2 Present status of the equine gene map

The equine karyotype comprises 31 pairs of autosomes, and the X and Y chromosomes. Thus the diploid chromosome number in horse is 2n=64. Of the autosomes, 13 pairs are metacentric/submetacentric and 18 pairs acrocentric. Recently, a report of the Third International Committee for the Standardization of the Domestic Horse Karyotype was published (ISCNH 1997) where an improved standard karyotype of G- and R-banded chromosomes is presented along with schematic drawings and nomenclature. The standard is recommended for use by all groups involved in equine cytogenetics, and gene mapping. This would permit a consensus for physical location of markers and will also allow accurate description of chromosomal breakpoints and rearrangements.

Like in several other species, linkage mapping in horses started with the Xchromosome (Trujillo et al. 1965; Mathai et al. 1966). The first equine autosomal linkage group (EAK-PGD) was detected almost 20 years ago by Sandberg (1974). Since then, linkage mapping in horses developed at a remarkably slow speed though some significant contributions (Andersson and Sandberg 1984; Sandberg and Andersson 1984) were made during early '80s. Until 1995 five autosomal linkage groups were established while only three of them were chromosomally assigned (see Chowdhary and Gustavsson 1992). Recently, an International Horse Reference Family Panel comprising 12 families based on 12 stallions and 448 halfsib offspring, was established (see Guérin et al. 1998). Additionally, a Swedish panel involving eight half-sib families with 263 offspring was reported (Lindgren et al. 1998). As a result, there are now over 200 linked markers assigned to 28 equine autosomes and the X chromosome. Further, a new resource (fullsib family) with 5 grandparents, 5 parents and 41 progeny was recently generated (Swinburne et al. 1998). Until now, linkage groups were numbered according to the order of their establishment. However, it is probably the right time to rename the groups according to chromosome number.

In spite of these developments within a short span of time, the equine genetic map needs more markers for efficient search of genes affecting traits of interest. A look at the distribution of markers on different chromosomes shows that they are not evenly spaced along the whole genome. Some chromosomes, e.g., ECA8, 27, 28 and 31 have no genetically mapped loci at all, while others like ECA3 has over 10 linked markers. Of the different markers, only 30 are coding sequences. These are spread on ten chromosomes (Sandberg and Andersson 1993; Godard et al. 1998; Lindgren et al. 1998). Comparative linkage analysis between horse and other species is limited because there are very few equine linkage groups comprising two or more Type I loci.

3 2.2 SCH syntenic map

The first syntenic group in horse can be traced back to indirect analysis carried out in a mule x mouse hybrid cell panel (Deys 1972). Three genes (G6PD, HGPRT and PGK) were then assigned to the X chromosome. However, the first direct synteny study was based on biochemical detection methods using a SCH panel obtained from horse x mouse heterohybridoma cells (Williams et al. 1993). The analysis resulted in identification of three syntenic groups with eight enzyme genes. Later three more mouse x horse SCH panels were constructed (Bailey et al. 1995; Raney et al. 1998; Shiue et al. 1998). These panels have hitherto not been characterized for the equine chromosomes/segments they contain. However, attempts have been made to see numerically how many whole chromosomes or parts are present in individual clones of some of the panels (Lear et al. 1992; Bailey et al. 1995; Shiue et al. 1998). The authors also report about the preferential loss of large

submetacentric equine chromosomes from the hybrids. This makes the panels unsuitable for excluding syntenic groups.

Using the panel described by Lear et al. (1992), six syntenic groups including two genes and fifteen microsatellites were established after PCR analysis (Bailey et al. 1995). At that time, none of the syntenic groups were assigned to specific chromosomes. Recently, 33 syntenic groups with 182 microsatellites and 58 random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers were synteny mapped (Shiue et al. 1998). Based on FISH mapping data for some of the markers, 23 syntenic groups were chromosomally located. Further, using a trisomic individual, two microsatellite markers were assigned to ECA30 and it was also possible to reveal the maternal origin of the extra chromosome (Bowling et al. 1997). Thus the overall status of the syntenic map in horse looks encouraging.

Despite significant progress made in generating a syntenic map in horse, the data is insufficient for comparative analysis with other species because the number of mapped Type I markers is very low. Although attempts are being made to map specific genes within the available panels, alternative approaches like the use of CATS primers is also in progress (Lyons et al. 1997). Preliminary results showed that of the 52 CATS primer sets used, 34 gave a single PCR product making them potentially useful for mapping in the panel. Recently, eight CATS primer pairs (from HSA5) were mapped into two equine syntenic groups, which were later indirectly assigned to ECA14 and 21 (Caetano et al. 1998). The latter are known to be HSA5 homologues (papers I and III from this thesis).

3.2.3 Cytogenetic map

Direct physical assignment of loci to horse chromosomes by *in situ* hybridization started a decade ago using the radioactive approach. Due to lack of horse specific probes, human and pig genomic or cDNA clones were used. The first assignments were for the equine major histocompatibility complex (*ELA*) to ECA20q14-q22 (Ansari et al. 1988; Mäkinen et al. 1989) and glucosephosphate isomerase (*GPI*) to ECA10pter (Harbitz et al. 1990). During the initial 5 years, not more than 6-8 genes were ISH mapped in horse. Later, when the trend shifted to the application of the FISH technique, Oakenfull et al. (1993) mapped hemoglobin alpha (*HBA*) to ECA13q. From here onwards, and with the beginning of international collaboration for developing a gene map in horse, the number of ISH (rather FISH) mapped loci has soared.

During recent years, significant progress has been made to construct equine genomic libraries and to isolate genes and microsatellites from large insert clones ranging from phage and cosmid to BACs (Breen et al. 1997; Godard et al. 1997; Godard et al. 1998). Recently, 41 sequence tagged sites (STSs) were isolated from a cosmid library and FISH mapped to equine chromosomes (Hirota et al. 1997). By now 83 DNA markers and 34 genes (Table 3) have been localized to equine chromosomes using the *in situ* techniques.

| | , | | | |
|----------------|---|--------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| Gene symbol | Gene name | Location | Human homology | Reference & method |
| ALB ASIP | albumin agouti (mouse)- | 3q14.3 22q15-16 | 4q11-q13 20q11.2-q12 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| ASIF | signaling protein | 22915-10 | 20411.2-412 | Oddalu el al. 1998 (1) |
| BLG1 | beta lactoglobulin 1 | 28q18-qter | | Lear et al. 1998d (F) |
| BLG2 | beta lactoglobulin 2 | 28q18-qter | | Lear et al. 1998d (F) |
| С3 | complement component 3 | 7pter | 19p13.3 | Millon et al. 1993 (F) |
| CAD | carbamoylphosphate synthetase 2, asparate transcarbamylase, and dihydroorotase | 15q25 | 2p22-p21 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| COL9A1 | collagen, type IX, alpha 1 | 20q24 | 6q12-q14 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| ELA | major histocompatibility complex | 20q14-q22 | 6p21.3 | Ansari et al. 1988 (R); Mäkinen et al. 1989 (R) |
| ESR | estrogen receptor | 31q15-q17 | 6q25.1 | Lear et al. 1998a (F) |
| ETS2 | v-ets avian erythroblastosis virus E2 oncogene homolog | 26q17 | 21q22.3 | Lear et al. 1998b (F) |
| F13A | coagulation factor XIII, A1 polypeptide | 20q13 | 6p25.1- p24.3 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| F18 | ? | Xq29 | Xq28 | Tozaki et al. 1998 (F) |
| GOT2 | glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase 2 | 3p15 | 16q13 16q21 | Lear et al. 1998c (F) |
| GPI | glycose phosphate isomerase | 10pter | 19q13.1 | Harbitz et al. 1990 (R) |
| HBA | alpha-globin gene complex | 13qter | 16p13.3 | Oakenfull et al. 1993 (F) |
| IGF2 | insulin-like growth factor II | 12q14 | 11p15 | Paper II (F) |
| KIT | tyrosine kinase transmembrane receptor for mast/stem cell growth factor | 3q21 | 4q12 | Lear et al. 1998c (F); paper V (F) |
| LCT | lactase | 15q21 | 2q21 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| LTF3 | lactotransferrin | 16q23 | 3q21-q23; 3p21.3- p21.2 | Lear et al. 1998d (F) |
| MCIR | melanocortin 1 receptor | 3p12 | 16q24.3 | Paper V (F) |
| ME1 | malic enzyme 1, soluble | 10q12-q13 | 6q12 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| MPI | mannose phosphate isomerase | 1 | 15q22-qter | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| MXI | myxovirus (influenza) resistance 1 | 26q17 | 21q22.3 | Lear et al. 1998b (F) |

Table 3. Genes mapped by *in situ* hybridization in the horse (human mapping data are retrieved from GDB).

.

| NP | nucleoside phosphorylase | 1q26-q27 | 14q11.2 14q13.1 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
|---|--|----------------------------------|--------------------|--|
| ODC1 | ornithine decarboxylase 1 | 15q27 | 2p25 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| PDGFRA | platelet-derived growth factor receptor, alpha polypeptide | 3q21 | 4q11-q12 | Paper V |
| PGD | 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase | 2p | 1p36.3- p36.13 | Gu et al. 1992 (R) |
| PGR | progesterone receptor | 7p16-p15 | 11q22.1- q22.3 | Lear et al. 1998a (F) |
| PI (AAT) | protease inhibitor 1 (anti-elastase, alpha-1- antitrypsin) | 24q15-q16 | 14q32.1 | Godard et al. 1998 (F); Lear et al. 1998d (F) |
| PIMI | pim-1 oncogene | 20q24 | 6p21.2 | Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| PRKDC, DNA-PK | DNA protein kinase catalytic subunit, candidate gene for CID | 9p12 | 8q11 | Bailey et al. 1997 (F) |
| RNR | ribosomal RNA (rDNA) | lpter 27cen 28cen 31cen | | Deryusheva et al. 1997 (F) |
| RYRI | ryanodine receptor 1 | 10p15; | 19q13.1 | Chowdhary et al. 1992 |
| (CRC) | (calcium release channel gene) | 10pter | | (R); Godard et al. 1998 (F) |
| TF4 | transferrin | 16q23 | 3q21 | Lear et al. 1998d (F) |
| (F) - fluorescent in situ hybridization(R) - radioactive in situ hybridization | | | | |

In situ hybridization, like in other species, has enabled to anchor linkage and synteny groups to specific horse chromosomes. Precise physical localization of markers has on the other hand been instrumental in integrating genetic linkage and physical maps (Breen et al. 1997; Godard et al. 1997). ISH based physical order and relative distances between loci has allowed to draw comparisons between linkage and FISH mapping data (paper V, this thesis). A summary of all genes mapped in horse, irrespective of the technique used, is presented in Fig. 3.

3.3 Karyotype evolution in the equids

The family Equidae consists of one genus (Equus) with twelve extant species - two horses, seven asses and three zebras (see Bowling 1996). Analysis of abundant fossil records date the divergence of these species from a common ancestor about 3-5 Myrs ago (Lindsay et al. 1980). Recent comparison of horse and donkey mtDNA sequences predicts the evolutionary distance between the two species to be 8-10 Myrs ago (Xu et al. 1996). How this distance compares with other equids is not clear. Nevertheless, on an evolutionary time-scale the period is short and it is



ų,

Figure 3. A karyogram of G-banded horse chromosomes showing all the genes hitherto mapped. In situ mapped - normal font; synteny mapped - in italics; linkage mapped - in brackets; gene assignments presented in this thesis - bold. Synteny data for ECA11, 14, 19 and 21 were kindly provided by Dr. A.T. Bowling.

expected that the genome organization of such related species should be fairly similar. For example, among bovids (Allard et al. 1992) and majority of the primates (Dutrillaux 1979; see Comparative Genome organization...1996; Wienberg and Stanyon 1997), the comparative karyotype structure is fairly preserved, though species within each of the groups diverged from their common ancestor about 16-17 and 5-15 Myrs ago, respectively (Allard et al. 1992; Arnason et al. 1996b).

Support to the expectation that the karyotypes of equids should not differ much from each other comes from the fact that all equids can freely interbreed and give viable, though usually infertile, offspring (Allen and Short 1997). However, chromosome number between equids varies considerably. It fluctuates in a broad range, from 2n=32 in Hartmann's mountain zebra to 2n=66 in the Przewalski horse (see Bowling 1996). Cytogenetic studies have shown significant morphological differences in the chromosomes of different equid species (Ryder et al. 1978; Power 1984). However, there is a reasonable number of chromosomes in some equids which do show banding homology. The paradox between short evolutionary distance and surviving healthy hybrids on the one hand, and extensive chromosomal rearrangements on the other, makes this mammalian group interesting for comparative genomics/cytogenetics. Until now horse is the only equid with the prospects of having a reasonably developed gene map in the future. Hence possibilities of drawing conclusions on comparative organization of different equid genomes seems difficult - at least for the moment. The present thesis will try to address this aspect and suggest possible ways to partly overcome the problem.

Aims of this thesis

The objectives of this study were to:

- compare horse and human karyotypes using Zoo-FISH
- refine some of the above results using arm specific paints from microdissected human chromosomes 2, 5, 6, 16 and 19
- carry out "heterologous FISH" for mapping new loci to equine and asine chromosomes
- generate whole chromosome painting probes for all meta- and submetacentric horse autosomes (ECA1-13), and X and Y chromosomes using microdissection
- compare the donkey genome primarily with the horse and partly with the human genomes using different physical mapping approaches
- develop an overview of the mammalian genome organization using available Zoo-FISH and gene mapping data
An overview of the salient findings of the thesis

1. Zoo-FISH analysis between human and horse (papers I, II, III)

Whole chromosome paints (WCPs) for individual human chromosomes (22 autosomes and sex chromosomes) were used separately on horse metaphase chromosomes in a Zoo-FISH experiment. All human probes, except the Y, hybridized to one or more chromosomes in the horse. Altogether 43 conserved segments were detected. This is the first study which delineated gross chromosomal homology between the human and horse karyotypes. Immediately thereafter, two more studies reported use of HSA3, 4, 14 and 16, paints on horse chromosomes (Rettenberger et al. 1996; Lear and Bailey 1997b). The findings of these studies are in full accordance with those reported by us.

The Zoo-FISH results showed for seven chromosomes of the two species one-to-one homology (HSA7/ECA4, HSA8/ECA9, HSA13/ECA17, HSA17/ECA11, HSA20/ECA22, HSA21/ECA28 and HSAX/ECAX). For other chromosomes, variable degree of synteny conservation ranging from one human chromosome corresponding to 1-4 segments on different equine chromosomes was observed. However, the majority of human chromosomes were homologous to whole chromosome arms or large segments in the horse karyotype (Fig. 1, paper I). This reflects a fairly high degree of synteny conservation between the two genomes.

Some equine chromosomes/regions viz., ECA6p, 12, 13p, 27 and 31, however, did not hybridize with any human WCP. This was attributed to a possible variation in the representation of coding sequences between the human chromosome specific libraries - a phenomenon which can occur while libraries are grown. It is thus very likely that the DNA obtained from some of the library cultures were under-represented for conserved coding sequences. Due to this, the hybridization signals produced by them were probably too weak or insufficient for detection. A good example of this can be observed from the fact that in paper I the HSA11 WCP painted only ECA7. However, HSA11 probe from a different source (microdissected) used in paper II, painted ECA7 and ECA12. Thus it seems that the library in the latter case had a better representation of HSA11 than that in the former.

Comparison of human-horse Zoo-FISH results with the genes hitherto mapped in both species shows that, in most cases, the two data sets agree very closely with each other. However, as is evident in other species, it is expected that with the expansion of the equine gene map some discordance with the Zoo-FISH data will surface. The reasons for this have been pointed out earlier while discussing limitations of Zoo-FISH (see Introduction). Until now, ECA26 and 28 are the two horse chromosomes where Zoo-FISH results are not in accordance with gene mapping data. In paper I homology is shown between ECA26-HSA12/22 and ECA28-HSA21. However, recently two HSA21 genes (*ETS2* and *MX1*) were FISH mapped to ECA26 (Lear et al. 1998b). The likely explanation for this discrepancy could be similar size and G-banding patterns of the two equine chromosomes, due to which the chromosomes might have been incorrectly identified either by us during Zoo-FISH, or by Lear et al. (1998b) during the FISH localizations. Of course, there is also a very slight possibility that ECA26 shares a small homologous region with HSA21. However, the former explanation appears more reasonable. Mapping of more genes to the two equine chromosome will conclusively solve this disparity.

In Zoo-FISH, when a WCP from one species paints two or more chromosomes/segments in a distantly related species, it is difficult to ascertain precise homology of the painted segments in relation to the probe chromosome. For example, if a human metacentric chromosome paints two whole chromosomes or segments in the horse, it will be difficult to predict which of the two equine chromosomes/segments correspond to the short or the long arm of the human chromosome. In such instances, preliminary refinement of conserved syntenies can be derived through available comparative gene mapping data.

Other alternatives for refinement would be either reverse painting whereby horse individual chromosome paints could be used as probes on human metaphase chromosomes, or Zoo-FISH with sub-chromosomal probes. The latter approach was used in paper III where some human chromosome arm specific paints (ASPs) were generated via microdissection, and applied to horse and pig (Sus scrofa, SSC) chromosomes. The two species were chosen to widen the scope of analysis, specially considering that horse, on the one hand had very few mapped loci, while the pig, on the other hand, had enough information to countercheck the results.

ASPs from HSA2, 5, 6, 16 and 19 were chosen because accumulated comparative data shows that each of them correspond to two homologous segments in a number of mammalian species (paper IV, Fig. 1). HSA2 paints two segments in pig. In horses, the human chromosome shows homology with two entire chromosomes (ECA15 and ECA18) and a small weakly hybridizing block on ECA1q. Our arm painting results showed that individual arms of HSA2 are not conserved as separate segments both in horse and pig. In each of the species, one of the homologous blocks corresponded to the complete short arm and a contiguous small part of the long arm of the human chromosome (HSA2p + proximal part of 2q). However, the other equine and porcine blocks showed homology only with the remaining part of the long arm (HSA2q). Very recent gene assignments in horses (Godard et al. 1998) and the available mapping data from pigs (PigBase) confirm this observation. No homology with either human arms was seen for the weak hybridizing segment on ECA1q (paper I). The latter needs further verification with the help of new gene mapping data.

The findings, together with the observations in cattle and primates, support the concept that evolutionary synteny disruption of HSA2 is on band q13 (Avarello et al. 1992; Ijdo et al. 1992; Wienberg et al. 1994). However, very recent assignment of lactase (LCT; HSA2q21), carbamoylphosphate synthetase (CAD; HSA2p) and ornithine decarboxylase 1 (ODCI; HSA2p) to ECA15 (Godard et al. 1998) indicates that, at least in horses, the HSA2 synteny is either disrupted at another site, or the two proposed ancestral chromosomes have followed a slightly different evolutionary path. Additional gene mapping data on ECA15 can provide a solution to this problem.

Similar to HSA2, the HSA5 arm painting results clearly indicated that the two arms are not conserved as individual blocks in the equine and porcine genomes (Fig. 2 d, paper III). Available gene mapping data help in suggesting that HSA5 synteny is disrupted at q13. Contrary to these observations, Zoo-FISH with ASPs from HSA6, 16 and 19 on horse and pig metaphase spreads was in agreement with our hypothesis that individual arms of the human chromosomes are conserved as separate blocks (Fig. 2 b, c, paper III). Comparative gene mapping data in horse and pig support this view. Recently HSA16 and 19 ASPs were also used on donkey and cat chromosomes (T. Raudsepp and B.P. Chowdhary, unpublished) with similar observations.

When human-horse Zoo-FISH results (paper I) were first reported, very little was known with regards to horse vs. other mammalian genomes. The findings thus provided a first hand insight into comparative organization of horse and human genomes but also indirectly helped to relate the horse genome to other mammalian genomes. The results are of significance in horse because, in the absence of a proper gene map, the comparative information has served as a framework to extrapolate information from the developed gene maps. Further, the findings have also acted as a reference point to compare all new gene assignments in horse.

The Zoo-FISH observations have also contributed in assigning linkage or syntenic groups to specific horse chromosomes. In paper I, we predicted that equine linkage group 2 (LG2) is most likely located on ECA3. Recent gene mapping data (Lear et al. 1998c; Godard et al. 1998; paper V) strongly support our prediction. Similarly, we also proposed that an equine syntenic group (*NP*, *MPI*, *IDH2*; Williams et al. 1993) maps to ECA1q. Recent FISH mapping of *NP* locus to ECA1q26-q27 (Godard et al. 1998) confirm our observations. Presently, only one linkage group containing Type I markers (*APOA1* and *APOA4*) is not anchored to a specific horse chromosome (Kakoi and Gawahara 1997). Because both these genes are mapped to HSA11, it is expected that the linkage group is located either on ECA7 or ECA12 (see Fig. 1, paper I; paper II).

The arm specific painting results, the first of it's kind in farm animals, have successfully refined previously known homologies between the human and horse (+pig) chromosomes. Though the findings cover a chosen set of human chromosomes for comparison (chosen specifically to check whether these chromosomes each represent two ancestral segments), they provide interesting pieces of information both supporting and modifying our hypothesis about synteny conservation of the studied human arms.

2. Comparative mapping in horse and donkey using homologous and heterologous FISH (papers II, V)

Described in papers II and V are studies where four genes were localized to specific chromosomal bands in horse and five in donkey. Insulin-like growth factor II (*IGF2*), melanocortin 1 receptor (*MC1R*), mast/stem cell growth factor receptor (*KIT*) and platelet-derived growth factor receptor α (*PDGFRA*) were mapped in both species. An additional gene – albumin

(ALB) - was also chromosomally assigned in donkey to compare it's location with that in horse. Further, two equine microsatellite-containing cosmid clones (SGCV18 and SGCV33) were also FISH mapped in donkey. A summary of the FISH results obtained in the two species is presented in Table 4 below.

Of these, *IGF2* (paper II) was the only equine probe used on horse chromosomes. For all other localizations, heterologous probes were used. Application of equine probes on donkey chromosomes can also be considered as "homologous FISH" because most probes give distinct hybridization signals across closely related species (e.g., bovids: cattle, sheep, goat and buffalos) (Hayes et al. 1996; Prakash et al. 1997; Xiao et al. 1998).

Porcine genomic clones were used for the localization of *MC1R*, *KIT* and *PDGFRA* genes. Pig is considered to have diverged over 65 Myrs ago from the horse and donkey (Graur and Higgins 1994). Except for the use of a human Mega-YAC clone on cat (Weinberg and Stanyon, 1997) and three HSA2 YAC clones on common shrew chromosomes (Dixkens et al. 1998), there is no published data showing application of individual large sized genomic clones for FISH across distantly related species (a method termed as *heterologous FISH*). Paper V shows that this was successfully carried out. Earlier, pooled rather than individual human PAC clones were used on pig chromosomes to map the *LCAT* gene on SSC6 (Frengen et al. 1997), and three bovine X chromosome specific cosmid clones on reindeer chromosomes (Prakash et al. 1996). The latter two species belong to the same order.

Subsequent to the FISH localization of IGF2 in horse and donkey, the gene has been physically mapped in three more species: kangaroo (Toder et al. 1996), mouse (Beechey et al. 1997) and pig (A. Törnsten, pers. communication). In all these species the gene maps on the terminal part of the chromosome. Thus there are now eight species where the gene is in situ mapped and interestingly maintains a similar distal position. The observations support our earlier proposition that the location represents the ancestral condition (Fig. 4, paper II). Interestingly, Human IGF2 is situated on HSA11p15.5, which harbours several disease loci and a cluster of imprinted genes (Junien and van Heyningen 1991; Feil et al. 1994; Higgins et al. 1994; Banerjee and Smallwood 1995). In this context, the physical localization of this gene in horse and donkey, and detected homology between HSA11, ECA12 and EAS17 (Zoo-FISH based - discussed in part 1 and 3 of this section) could be of importance in studying similar phenomena in equids.

Mapping of MC1R, KIT and PDGFRA to horse chromosome 3 is of significance because i) the results confirm an earlier preliminary assignment of equine LG2 to ECA3 (paper I; Lear and Bailey 1997b; Lear et al. 1998c) and ii) the former two loci determine the inheritance of some coat colour patterns in horse. These gene assignments make LG2 the best studied

linkage group in horse, thus increasing it's utility for cross species comparisons. The alignment of the physical and genetic linkage maps involving these loci shows that the physical distance between ALB-MCIR and MCIR-GOT2 is almost the same, but the genetic distances differ by more than four-fold (Andersson and Sandberg 1982; Andersson et al. 1983a). This disparity is most likely attributed to the presence of the centromere between ALB and MCIR, which is known to be a "crossover-suppressant" (Johansson et al. 1994).

This study shows that the short (p) and the long (q) arms of horse chromosome 3 are homologous to donkey chromosomes EAS28 and EAS3q, respectively (see Fig. 2, paper V). When these localizations are compared with the available human mapping data, it emerges that ECA3q and EAS3q correspond to HSA4q, while ECA3p and EAS28 to HSA16q. The observations for HSA16q are in complete agreement with the arm painting results in horse and donkey (Paper III; T. Raudsepp and B.P. Chowdhary, unpublished). The findings will be further discussed together with comparative painting data in donkey (part 3 of this section).

| Gene name | Gene symbol | Probe origin | Location in | | |
|--|----------------|------------------------|-------------|----------|----------|
| | | | horse | donkey | human* |
| Insulin-like growth factor 2 | IGF2 | equine λ phage | 12q14** | 17qter | 11p15 |
| Mast/stem cell growth factor receptor | KIT | porcine BAC | 3q21 | 3q # | 4q12 |
| Platelet-derived growth factor receptor α | PDGFRA | porcine BAC | 3q21 | 3q # | 4q11-q12 |
| Albumin | ALB | equine BAC | 3q14.3*** | 3q # | 4q11-q13 |
| Melanocortin 1 receptor | MCIR | porcine BAC | 3p12 | 28qter # | 16q24.3 |
| Microsatellite | SGCV33 | equine cosmid | 3p12 | 28qter # | |
| Microsatellite | SGCV18 | equine cosmid | 3p13-p14 | 28q # | - |

Table 4. Detailed information on all loci FISH mapped in this study.

* Human gene locations are retrieved from GDB.

** The published location for *IGF2* is ECA12q13 (paper II), because at that time the horse standard karyotype (ISCNH 1997) was not finalized.

*** In horses ALB is FISH mapped by Godard et al. (1998).

See Fig. 2 in paper V for precise locations.

3. Comparative chromosome painting in donkey (papers V, VI)

Increasing success of Zoo-FISH studies between distantly related mammalian species, encourages the use of this approach also for addressing questions related to comparative karyotype organization within an order or family. The application is most interesting where the rate of chromosome evolution has been rapid and cytogenetic comparisons do not give sufficient information. However, the main limitation of this approach up to now has been that chromosome specific probes are available only for few species.

This problem was overcome in the horse by generating microdissected chromosome specific paints for all equine meta-and submetacentric autosomes, and the X-and Y-chromosomes. After the paints were individually tested on equine metaphase chromosomes for their hybridization efficiency, they were applied in separate experiments on donkey metaphase spreads. Thus, from a total of 15 equine chromosomes, a total of 21 homologous chromosomes/segments were detected in the donkey karyotype (Fig. 2, paper VI). Nine of the equine paints used showed correspondence with only a single donkey chromosome/segment (Fig. 3 A-I, paper VI). Except for ECA4, which painted the long arm of EAS1 (Fig. 3 F, paper VI), each of these equine chromosomes showed one-to-one homology with the asine chromosomes. However, each of the remaining six equine chromosomes showed homology with *two* segments on different chromosomes in the donkey karyotype (Fig. 3 J-O, paper VI).

In order to cytogenetically compare the homologous segments detected between the two species, a G-banded karyotype was prepared in the donkey (see Fig. 4) using metaphase spreads from two female and one male donkey. The chromosomes were arranged according to their centromeric position and size. The arrangement was slightly different from that reported by Ryder et al. (1978), partly because the banding patterns were not optimal in that publication. A new donkey karyotype with distinct banding patterns was therefore needed.

Although eight of the 15 equine chromosome specific paints corresponded to a single chromosome each, only four (ECA1, 9, 12 and 13; see Fig. 3 A-D, paper VI) showed moderate to high degree of banding pattern homology with the respectively painted chromosomes. Among the equine chromosomes which painted two arms/segments on different chromosomes, banding pattern homology was evident only between ECA2p and ECA2q, and the corresponding asine segments (EAS5q and EAS3p, respectively) (see Fig. 3 J, paper VI). In general, about 60% of the segments homologous between the two species did not show clear correspondence in their banding patterns. This comparative painting work has thus for the first time disclosed molecular homology between a large part of the horse and donkey karyotypes. This is significant because other approaches, mainly cytogenetic, were hitherto unable to precisely define homology between their



Figure 4. G-banded karyotype of a male donkey (Equus asinus).

chromosomes, even though the two species are evolutionarily closely related.

One of the interesting facts which emerged from the horse-donkey comparative painting is that 29 equine chromosomal arms corresponded to 29 asine arms. Although two bi-armed chromosomes ECA4 and ECA7 show homology with a single arm each in donkey (EAS1q and EAS20, respectively; Fig. 3 F and G, paper VI), a balance in the numbers remained because the two arms of ECA5 and ECA6 are homologous to a total of three arms each in the donkey karyotype (see Fig. 3 K and N, paper VI).

Based on earlier defined homology between human and horse karyotypes (paper I), the present use of horse WCPs on donkey chromosomes enables drawing indirect conclusions about homology between the human and donkey chromosomes. Some of these homologies are supported by human→donkey Zoo-FISH results using HSA4, 16p, 16q and 19q specific paints, while some are supported through comparative gene mapping data (see papers II and V; T. Raudsepp and B. P. Chowdhary, unpublished). A general overview of the available correspondence between donkey - horse human chromosomes is summarized in Table 1, paper VI).

Normally, attempts to use Y-chromosome specific paints among distantly related species has not produced any results (Hayes 1995; Solinas-Toldo et al. 1995; Rettenberger et al. 1995a.b; Chowdhary et al. 1996; Frönicke et al. 1996; paper I). Attempts to use bovine Y-specific microdissected paint on goat, sheep and buffalo did not give satisfactory cross hybridization (B. P. Chowdhary, unpublished), though the probe for ZFY gene has been successfully used in other bovids (Xiao et al. 1998). Similar observations have been made for the Y-chromosome among the primates where, in some cases, the human Y-specific paint shows clear hybridization signal (Wienberg et al. 1992; Koehler et al. 1995a, b; Bigoni et al. 1997; Müller et al. 1997), while in others no hybridization (Consigliere et al. 1996; Richard et al. 1996; Sherlock et al. 1996; Morescalchi et al. 1997). In the present study, ECAY clearly painted EASY. However, additional signals on the centromeres and/or telomeres of some asine chromosomes were also observed. The signal was fairly prominent on the heterochromatic region of EASXq, which corresponds to similar region on ECAXq. The results indicate that some of the ECAY specific sequences are common to telomeric/centromeric/intercalary sequences in the donkey.

4. Emerging patterns of comparative genome organization in some mammals as revealed by Zoo-FISH (paper IV)

During recent years, Zoo-FISH studies between humans and a variety of non-primate mammalian species have been conducted (see Table. 2, Introduction). This information, together with constantly increasing comparative gene mapping data, helps to understand how these genomes are organized in relation to each other. The observations are of greater

significance when the species are evolutionarily distantly related because the data enable identification of ancestral genomic segments. Hence, we assimilated our Zoo-FISH results with those published during recent years to find chromosomal segments which are similar in different species. Where possible, the comparative chromosome painting results were integrated with the available gene mapping information. The analysis spans eight species (human, pig, cattle, Indian muntjac, horse, cat, American mink, and harbor seal) representing four mammalian orders (Primates, Artiodactyla, Perissodactyla and Carnivora). In all discussions, the human chromosomes serve as reference point, merely because all the species were probed with human WCPs. Although very limited human-mouse Zoo-FISH results are available (Scherthan et al. 1994), mouse was included for comparison due to it's well developed gene map. Depending on the degree and pattern of chromosome conservation between species, with respect to individual human chromosomes, three distinct classes of conserved syntenies are pointed out:

i) <u>Conservation of whole chromosome synteny</u>: These include chromosomes corresponding to HSA13, 17, 20 and X (Fig. 1 A-C, paper IV). Recent Zoo-FISH results in rabbit (Korstanje et al. 1998), dolphin (Bielec et al. 1998) and common shrew (Dixkens et al. 1998) also demonstrate similar observations. Despite whole chromosome synteny conservation, several comparisons of available gene mapping data between the species, e.g., HSA17 and BTA19 (Yang and Womack 1998; Schibler et al. 1998), suggest extensive intrachromosomal rearrangements during karyotype evolution.

ii) <u>Conservation of chromosomal arms or large segments</u>: This category includes homologues related to HSA2, 4, 5, 6, 9, 11, 16, 19 and 21 (Fig. 1D-K, paper IV). The observation that arms or large parts of these chromosomes are evolutionarily conserved is further reiterated by very recent comparative painting results in rabbit (Korstanje et al. 1998), common shrew (Dixkens et al. 1998) and dolphin (Bielec et al. 1998) using human WCPs. It is interesting to note that although Dixkens et al. (1998) found only one segment corresponding to HSA2 in common shrew, the authors were able to point out very clearly the proposed evolutionary breakpoint and an inversion, as compared to the human chromosome.

Conserved synteny of large chromosomal segments was refined by using arm specific paints for HSA2, 5, 6, 16 and 19 on horse and pig chromosomes (discussed in the section above; paper III). Further refinement also comes from accumulating gene mapping data and reverse painting information in e.g., cat (Wienberg et al. 1997), pig (Goureau et al. 1996; Milan et al. 1996) and from recent pig→cattle Zoo-FISH results (Schmitz et al. 1998).

As compared to the human karyotype, the equids, particularly the horse, do not show any specific variation for the conserved chromosomal arms/segments, as against other mammalian species. However, it needs to be mentioned that for some chromosomes, for example HSA9, horse does appear to be an exception. While all (or most) studied species show a single chromosome or segment corresponding to this human chromosome, horse shows two complete acrocentric chromosomes as homologues (Fig. 1D, paper IV). Similarly for HSA4, horse is the only species (except the common shrew and bovids) which has two homologous segments (Fig. 1H, paper IV). This result is of even greater significance when the same human chromosome paints only a single chromosome in donkey and Hartmann's zebra (paper V; Lear and Bailey 1997a), suggesting that the proposed fission of the equine homologues to HSA4 occurred only in horse and not in other equids. It would, therefore, be interesting to check more Equidae karyotypes to further understand how the homologue of HSA4 evolved in this mammalian group.

iii) <u>Neighbouring or contiguous segment combinations</u>: Analysis of different Zoo-FISH results show that some genomic regions, which are present as separate chromosomes in human, are syntenic in a wide range of evolutionarily distantly related species. This synteny is not reflected simply as presence of corresponding human segments on the same chromosome, but also their association as contiguous or neighbouring regions - i.e. segments lying next to each other on the chromosome. Such persistent association is a strong indication that each of the syntenies represent an ancestral condition. It is therefore evident that what we see in the human karyotype is a result of a series of fission events in the ancestral karyotype, which separated these combinations into independent units (chromosomes).

In the majority of the species analysed, segments homologous to HSA3/21, HSA14/15, HSA12/22 and HSA16/19 have been found to be syntenic. Even in a fairly rearranged genome of mouse (as compared to other mammalian species) traces of most of these syntenic combinations are present. Novel Zoo-FISH data show that the same synteny combinations are present also in dolphin (Bielec et al. 1998), while only HSA14/15, HSA12/22 and HSA16/19 in rabbit (Korstanje et al. 1998) and HSA3/21, HSA16/19 and HSA14/15 in common shrew (Dixkens et al. 1998). Among the different contiguous combinations, the consistent telomeric/centromeric location of HSA21 homologous segments (Fig. J, paper IV) and the refinement of synteny of HSA16/19 to that concerning only their long arms (Fig. K, paper IV; see also paper III), are worth mentioning.

However, it needs to be pointed out that horse is an exception where two of the neighbouring syntenies (HSA3/21 and HSA16/19) are disrupted (paper I). The former is also disrupted in rabbit (Korstanje et al. 1998), and the latter in donkey (paper VI; T. Raudsepp and B.P. Chowdhary, unpublished).

<u>Overview:</u> Comparative analysis of conserved blocks observed in evolutionarily diverged species gives an idea about the constitution of the ancestral eutherian karyotype (Fig. 2, paper IV). The constitution is expressed in terms of human homologues. Sequence of events which *probably* led to the formation of the studied karyotypes are depicted. It needs to be emphasized that these observations are merely a *small contribution* to the constant efforts carried out by a large number of laboratories to find out what the mammalian ancestral karyotype looked like. It is expected that with the accumulation of more Zoo-FISH data from other mammalian orders, and with the refinement of available Zoo-FISH maps through reversed painting, arm painting and gene mapping, the view about ancestral genome organization will sharpen.

Conclusions

The work presented in the thesis was undertaken with the primary aim to study the equine genome. Because of the very limited mapping resources (e.g., equine specific probes etc.) available in the horse, indirect approaches like Zoo-FISH and heterologous FISH mapping were employed. The work was extended to another equid - the donkey - to see how the karyotypes of two very closely related species are organized in relation to each other. Comparison with contemporary Zoo-FISH information in other species provided some clues on genome organization among the mammals. However, with horse at the centre of all investigations, a broader view of the horse genome was realized with the following specific observations:

- A Zoo-FISH based comparative chromosome map between human and horse was established, which provided comparative information on the majority of the equine chromosomes. The findings significantly contribute towards a) anchoring equine linkage/synteny groups to specific chromosomes, b) predicting likely map location of equine genes on the basis of the location of their homologues in humans, c) and providing possibilities to transfer gene mapping data from human to horse, which in turn could open the prospects for rapid development of the horse gene map.
- Zoo-FISH with microdissected ASPs from selected human chromosomes refined the overall comparative status between the horse and human genomes. This enabled more accurate demarcation of the boundaries of conserved syntenies between the two species. The information can be of importance in focused development of equine gene map using the comparative information from human and other developed gene maps. Microdissected sub-chromosomal probes emerged as a viable alternative to refine gross chromosome homology between distantly related species.
- FISH assignment of four genes to equine chromosomes is a small contribution to the list of cytogenetically mapped Type I markers in the horse. The map location of *IGF2* emphasizes the evolutionarily conserved terminal location of the gene, while other localizations provide detailed information on LG2 in horse.
- Successful use of heterologous porcine probes for FISH mapping in horse (+donkey) represents the first such work where *individual* large sized genomic clones have been used across distantly related species. The results illustrate the potential for accelerating physical gene mapping in horses and other mammals for creating refined comparative maps.

- Comparative analysis between horse and donkey chromosomes using microdissected equine meta-/submetacentric and sex chromosome specific paints provided the first molecular cytogenetic evidence for homology between the two karyotypes. An important derivative of this work was indirect deduction of homology between human and donkey karyotypes. A large part of the donkey genome can now be compared with other mammalian genomes.
- For the first time, physical gene mapping was carried out in the donkey. Though FISH mapping of seven loci (five genes and two microsatellite markers) provides very little information, together with the comparative painting data, it serves as a starting point to study the donkey genome.
- Zoo-FISH data between human and a variety of non-primate species enabled the detection of evolutionarily conserved whole chromosomes, large chromosomal segments and contiguous syntenies in mammalian genomes. Interestingly, horse provided several exceptions as compared to other species. The results allowed us to identify a set of human chromosome segments that very likely comprised the karyotype of the eutherian ancestor. Possible fusion/fission events leading to the karyotypes of studied species are proposed.

Future prospects

The last few years represent a period of significant breakthroughs in equine genome analysis. After having awaited fairly long for the attention of animal geneticists, gene mapping in horse has now received a good start. The statement of this fact in no way means that the work is even *partly* done. Uneven distribution of markers throughout the equine genome and scarcity of mapped specific genes, severely restricts the utility of the map for approaching genes responsible for various traits of interest. The status also limits exchange of map information with other species. Although human/horse Zoo-FISH map now serves as a framework for comparison with other species - directly with human, and indirectly with others - there is still a strong need to have a broad coverage of the chromosomes with both type I and polymorphic markers.

Development of a fundamental genetic linkage and physical map with reasonably uniform coverage of the equine genome is presently one of the top priorities of horse geneticists. The international consortium of equine gene mappers are concentrating their efforts in this direction. However, lessons have to be learned from the pattern of development of gene maps in other livestock species, specially the cattle and pigs, where the efforts got too much concentrated on developing maps enriched mainly with Type II markers. It is only during recent years, when the search for genes responsible for traits of interest started, that the urgent need of a well developed map with coding sequences was realized (primarily for comparative purposes). Hence, a *balanced* development of the equine gene map, with reasonable number of loci of both types, is something which will have to be kept in mind in horse.

This thesis presents a comprehensive picture of homology between the human and horse karyotypes. Though all human chromosome specific paints were used, it was not possible to get complete coverage of the equine chromosomes. This does not immediately imply that the unpainted regions of the equine genome do not share homology with the human genome. Additional Zoo-FISH experiments reported in this thesis, together with recent gene mapping data show that two (viz., ECA12 and 31; paper II; Lear et al. 1998a) of the unpainted segments now show homology with parts of human genome. Hence, some efforts will have to be diverted for studying the remaining "blank" regions of the equine genome.

Heterologous FISH mapping has been introduced in this thesis as one of the ways to rapidly develop the gene map of one species using large sized probes from evolutionarily distantly related species. It is expected that this alternative will gain more momentum and will be of use to map specific genes in horse, even without horse specific gene probes. The approach will also be of specific use in cases where a dense comparative map will be needed in a small region of the equine genome. The availability of PACs, BACs, YACs etc. in a number of species will make this task possible. Microdissection of equine chromosomes is a relatively new addition to the tools for studying the horse genome. Though it is one of the fairly well established and useful method in the humans to approach the gene of interest (Guan et al. 1996; see for review Cannizzaro 1996), it is too early to say whether the equine geneticists are prepared to further invest and embark on this approach. By now, there are two preliminary reports about construction of horse microlibraries from ECA1, 6 and 12 (Bowling et al. 1998; Chowdhary et al. 1998). However, for the moment it appears that the use of microdissected chromosome or arm specific material will be restricted mainly to comparative analysis within the equids/Perissodactyls or even across other orders.

The present resolution of the physical gene map in horse is very low. Under these circumstances it may seem that there are no reasons why fine mapping techniques like interphase-mapping and fiber-FISH etc. will be applied in the near future. However, with studies already concentrating on traits of specific interest, it will not be long when the need of these approaches will be felt. Among other physical gene mapping techniques, somatic hybrid cell genetics will continue to be at the forefront, primarily due to the significant contributions it is making in the expansion of the equine gene map. Nevertheless, construction of a radiation hybrid panel in horses will be a timely step in the right direction, specially considering that such developments have significantly contributed in making the cattle and pig gene maps more informative and integrated than before.

On the genetic linkage front, generating more family material will continue to remain a priority. Recently a new reference pedigree, involving eight half-sib families was constructed in Sweden (Lindgren et al. 1998), while the first full-sib family material was created in England (Swinburne et al. 1998). It is anticipated that linkage mapping will be intensified to achieve a reasonably good and even coverage of the equine genome. With the availability of an international panel of markers for mapping in various family materials, it will be possible to align different maps in the coming years.

Gene mapping in the horse is also expected to benefit from recent advances in tools and methodologies introduced to analyse e.g., human and mouse genomes. Recently introduced sets of primer pairs for orthologous genes (CATS or TOASTs) are new tools for cross species comparisons. The former have already been used in some of the very recent studies in horses (Caetano et al. 1998). Application of microarray (Schena et al. 1998) or DNA-chip technology (Ramsay 1998) cannot be left out as a distant probability in horses. With some methodological advancements, the technology may soon become a part of equine genome analysis. Further, studies of gene expression related to immune response, growth, development and genomic imprinting in horses (Otte and Engström 1994; Otte et al. 1996) are receiving growing attention. It may not be long when new approaches, such as microarray technology, will be of use also in horse. Establishment of cDNA libraries in the horse is, therefore, another aspect which might gain significance in coming years.

"What will be the immediate use of a gene map in horse", is a question which was present much before organized gene mapping started in horses. One of the fields where equine gene map will find it's first use is "disease genetics". There is a good probability that, like in other species, DNA based tests will be available for some of the genetic disorders. Advances in this direction already made in horses involving hyperkalaemic periodic paralysis (Rudolph et al. 1992), severe combined immunodeficiency (Shin et al. 1997) and the Overo lethal white foal syndrome (Santschi et al. 1998) are very encouraging. With regards to traits related to performance, all which can be said for the moment is that, though it may appear difficult to find genes directly influencing these traits, it will not be impossible to approach them as the equine gene map develops further.

References

- Alexander L.J., Hawken R., Murtaugh J., Flickinger G., Beattie C.W., Robic A., Milan D., Yerle M., Gellin J., Schook L.B. (1998) Characterization of a porcine radiation hybrid (RH) panel. Proc. XXVI Internat. Conf. on Anim. Genet., August 9-14, Auckland, New Zealand, p. 60.
- Allard M.W., Miyamoto M.M., Jarecki L., Kraus F., Tennant M.R. (1992) DNA systematics and evolution of the artiodactyl family Bovidae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 3972-3976
- Allen W.R. and Short R.V. (1997) Interspecific and extraspecific pregnancies in Equids: Anything goes. J. Hered. 88, 384-392.
- Ambady S., Mendiola J.R., Louis C.F., Janzen M.A., Schook L.B., Buoen L., Lunney J.K., Grimm D.R., Ponce de Leon F.A. (1997) Development and use of a microdissected swine chromosome 6 DNA library. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 76, 27-33.
- Andersson L., Sandberg K. (1982) A linkage group composed of three coat colour genes and three serum protein loci in horses. J. Hered. 73, 91-94.
- Andersson L., Sandberg K., Adalsteinsson S., Gunnarsson E. (1983a) Linkage of the equine serum esterase (Es) and mitochondrial glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT_m) loci. J. Hered., 74, 361-364.
- Andersson L., Juneja R.K., Sandberg K. (1983b) Genetic linkage between the loci for phosphohexose isomerase (PHI) and a serum protein (Xk) in horses. Anim. Blood. Grps. Biochem. Genet. 14, 45-50.
- Andersson L., Sandberg K. (1984) Genetic linkage in the horse. II. Distribution of male recombination estimates and the influence of age, breed and sex on recombination frequency. Genetics 106, 109-122.
- Andersson L., Haley C.S., Ellegren H., Knott S.A., Johansson M., Andersson K., Andersson-Eklund L., Edfors-Lilja I., Fredholm M., Hansson I., Håkansson J., Lundström K. (1994) Genetic mapping of quantitative trait loci for growth and fatness in pigs. Science 263, 1771-1774.
- Andresen E. (1971) Linear sequence of the autosomal loci PHI, H and 6-PGD in pigs. Anim.Blood Grps. Biochem. Genet. 2, 119-120.
- Andresen E. (1979) Evidence indicating the sequence *Phi, Hal, H* of the three closely linked loci in pigs. Nordisk Veterinaermedicin 31, 443-444.
- Ansari H.A., Hediger R., Fries R., Stranzinger G. (1988) Chromosomal localization of the major histocompatibility complex of the horse (ELA) by in situ hybridization. Immunogenetics 28, 362-364.
- Apiou F., Rumpler Y., Warter S., Vezuli A., Dutrillaux B. (1996) Demonstration of homoeologies between human and lemur chromosomes by chromosome painting. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 72, 50-52.
- Arnason U. (1977) The relationship between the four principal pinniped karyotypes. Hereditas 87, 227-242.
- Arnason U., Xu X., Gullberg A., Graue D. (1996a) The "Phoca Standard": An external molecular reference for calibrating recent evolutionary divergences. J. Mol. Evol. 43, 41-45.
- Arnason U., Xu X., Gullberg A. (1996b) Comparison between the complete mitochondrial DNA sequences of *Homo* and the common chimpanzee based on nonchimeric sequences. J. Mol. Evol. 42, 145-152.
- Arnold N., Stanyon R., Jauch A., O'Brien P., Wienberg J. (1996) Identification of complex chromosome rearrangements in the gibbon by fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) of a human chromosome 2q specific microlibrary, yeast artificial chromosomes, and reciprocal chromosome painting. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 74, 80-85.

- Avarello R., Pedicini A., Caiulo A., Zuffardi O., Fraccaro M. (1992) Evidence for an ancestral alphoid domain on the long arm of human chromosome 2. Hum. Genet. 89, 247-249.
- Bailey E. (1998) Odds on the FAST gene. Genome Res. 8, 569-571.
- Bailey E., Graves K.T., Cothran E. G., Reid R., Lear T.L., Ennis R.B. (1995) Synteny-mapping horse microsatellite markers using a heterohybridoma panel. Animal Genet. 26, 177-170.
- Bailey E., Reid R.C., Skow L.C., Mathiason K., Lear T.L., McGuire T.C. (1997) Linkage of the gene for equine combined immunodeficiency disease to microsatellite markers HTG8 and HTG4; synteny and FISH mapping to ECA9. Anim. Genet. 28, 268-273.
- Baker R.J., Qumsiyeh M.B., Hood C.S. (1987) Role of Chromosomal Banding Patterns in Understanding Mammalian Evolution. In: *Current Mammology*. Ed. H.H. Genoways, Plenum Press, New York, pp. 67-96.
- Banerjee S., Smallwood A. (1995) A chromatin model of IGF2/H19 imprinting. Nature Genet. 11, 237-238.
- Beechey C.V., Ball S.T., Townsend K.M., Jones J. (1997) The mouse chromosome 7 distal imprinting domain maps to G-bands F4/F5. Mamm. Genome 8, 236-240.
- Benton M.J. (1990) Vertebrate Palaeontology: Biology and Evolution. Harper Collins Academic, London.
- Bielec P.E., Gallagher D.S., Womack J.E., Busbee D.L. (1998) Homologies between human and dolphin chromosomes detected by heterologous painting. Cytogenet Cell Genet. 81, 18-25.
- Bigoni F., Koehler U., Stanyon R., Ishida T., Wienberg J. (1997) Fluorescence in situ hybridization establishes homology between human and silvered leaf monkey chromosomes, reveals reciprocal translocations between chromosomes homologous to human Y/5, 1/9, and 6/16, and delineates an X₁X₂Y₁Y₂/X₁X₁X₂X₂ sex-chromosome system. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 102, 315-327.
- Bosma A.A., de Haan N.A., Mellink C.H.M., Yerle M., Zijlstra C. (1996) Chromosome homology between the domestic pig and the babirusa (family Suidae) elucidated with the use of porcine painting probes. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 75, 32-35.
- Bowling A.T. (1996). Horse Genetics, CAB International, University Press, Cambridge.
- Bowling A.T. (1997) Mapping an orphan genome. Proc. 10th North American Colloq. Gene Mapping and Cytogenet. Hum. and Domestic Sp. p. 23.
- Bowling A.T., Millon L.V., Dileanis S. (1997) Physical mapping of genetic markers to chromosome 30 using a trisomic horse and evidence for maternal origin of the extra chromosome. Chromosome Res. 5, 429-431.
- Bowling A.T., Millon L.V., Del Valle A., Ponce De Leon A.F., Carpio C., Eggleston M., Bautista M., Caetano A. R. (1998) Horse chromosome 1 specific library. Proc. Plant & Animal Genome VI, January 18-22, San Diego, CA, USA, p. 161.
- Breen M., Lindgren G., Binns M.M., Norman J., Irvin Z., Bell K., Sandberg K., Ellegren H. (1997) Genetical and physical assignments of equine microsatellites - First integration of anchored markers in horse genome mapping. Mamm. Genome 8, 267-273.
- Brown W.M., George M. Jr., Wilson A.C. (1979) Rapid evolution of animal mitochondrial DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 76, 1967-1971.

- Buckland R.A., Evans H.J. (1978) Cytogenetic aspects of phylogeny in the Bovidae I. G-banding. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 21, 42-63.
- Burkin D.J., O'Brien P.C., Broad T.E., Hill D.F., Jones C.A., Wienberg J., Ferguson-Smith M.A. (1997a) Isolation of chromosome-specific paints from high-resolution flow karyotypes of the sheep (*Ovis aries*). Chromosome Res. 5, 102-108.
- Burkin D.J., Yang F., Broad T.E., Wienberg J., Hill D.F., Ferguson-Smith M.A. (1997b) Use of the Indian muntjac idiogram to align conserved chromosomal segments in sheep and human genomes by chromosome painting. Genomics 46, 143-147.
- Burkin D.J., Broad T.E., Lambeth M.R., Burkin H.R., Jones C. (1998) New gene assignments using a complete, characterized sheep-hamster somatic cell hybrid panel. Anim. Genet. 29, 48-54.
- Caetano A.R., Murray J.D., Lyons L.A., O'Brien S.J., Bowling A.T. (1998) Equine synteny mapping of comparative anchor tagged sequences (CATS) from human chromosome 5. Plant and Animal Genome VI, January 18-22, San Diego, CA, USA, p. 161.
- Cannizzaro L.A. (1996) Chromosome microdissection: a brief overview. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 74, 157-160.
- Carter N.D. (1972) Carbonic anhydrase isozymes in Cavia porcellus, Cavia aperea and their hybrids. Comp. Biochem. Physiol. 43B, 743-747.
- Castle W.E. (1924) On the occurrence in rabbits of linkage inheritance between albinism and brown pigmentation. Proc. Natn. Acad. Sci. USA 10, 486-488.
- Cavalier-Smith T. (1985) Eukaryotic gene numbers, non-coding DNA and genome size. In: *The Evolution of Genome Size*. Ed. Cavalier-Smith T. John Wiley & Sons, pp. 69-103.
- Chaudhary R., Winterø A.K., Fredholm M., Chowdhary B.P. (1997) FISH mapping of seven cDNA sequences in the pig. Chromosome Res. 5, 545-549.
- Chaudhary R., Kijas J., Raudsepp T., Guan X.Y., Zhang H., Chowdhary B.P. (1998) Microdissection of pig chromosomes: dissection of whole chromosomes, arms and bands for construction of paints and libraries. Hereditas 128, 265-271.
- Chen-Liu L.W., Huang B.C., Scalzi J.M., Hall B.K., Sims K.R., Davis L.M., Siebert P.D., Hozier J.C. (1995) Selection of hybrids by affinity capture (SHAC): a method for the generation of cDNAs enriched in sequences from a specific chromosome region. Genomics 30, 388-392.
- Choi J.Y., Li W.L., Kouri R.E., Yu J., Kao F.T., Ruano G. (1996) Assignment of the acute phase response factor (APRF) gene to 17q21 by microdissection clone sequencing and fluorescence in situ hybridization of a P1 clone. Genomics 37, 264-265.
- Chowdhary B.P. (1991) Gene mapping in pigs: present status and future prospects. Proc. 7th North American Colloq. Domestic Anim. Cytogenet. and Gene Mapping, July 8-11, Philadelphia, USA, pp. 75-88.
- Chowdhary B.P. (1998a) Cytogenetics and physical chromosome maps. In: The Genetics of the Pig. M.F. Rothschild and A. Ruvinsky (Eds.), CAB International, University Press, Cambridge, pp. 199-264.
- Chowdhary B.P. (1998b) Comparative genome analysis in farm animals using cross-species chromosome painting. Ag. Biotech. in press.
- Chowdhary B.P. and Gustavsson I. (1992) Some aspects of equine genome analysis. Proc Ann. Meeting German Soc. Genet, October 1-3, Hannover, Germany, pp. 1-13.

- Chowdhary B.P., Harbitz I., Davies W., Gustavsson I. (1992) Localization of the calcium release channel gene in cattle and horse by in situ hybridization: evidence of a conserved synteny with glucose phosphate isomerase. Anim. Genet. 23, 43-50.
- Chowdhary B.P., de la Seña C., Harbitz I., Eriksson L., Gustavsson I. (1995) FISH on metaphase and interphase chromosomes demonstrates the physical order of the genes for GPI, CRC, and LIPE in pigs. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 71, 175-178.
- Chowdhary B.P., Frönicke L., Gustavsson I., Scherthan H. (1996) Comparative analysis of the cattle and human genomes: detection of ZOO-FISH and gene mapping-based chromosomal homologies. Mamm. Genome 7, 297-302.
- Chowdhary B.P., Raudsepp T., Jeon J.-T., Kijas J. (1998) Microdissection and microcloning of chromosomes 6 and 12 in horse. Proc. XXVI Internat. Conf. Anim. Genet., August 9-14, Auckland, New Zealand, pp. 86-87.
- Claussen U., Mazur A., Rubtsov N. (1994) Chromosomes are highly elastic and can be stretched. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 66, 120-125.
- Collins C., Kuo W.-L., Segraves R., Fuscoe J., Pinkel D., Gray J.W. (1991) Construction and characterization of plasmid libraries enriched in sequences from single human chromosomes. Genomics 11, 997-1006.
- Comparative Genome Organization: First International Workshop. (1996) Mamm. Genome 7, 717-734.
- Consigliere S., Stanyon R., Koehler U., Agoramoorthy G., Wienberg J. (1996) Chromosome painting defines genomic rearrangements between red howler monkey subspecies. Chrom. Res. 4, 264-270.
- Cox D.R., Burmeister M., Price E.R., Kim S., Myers R.M. (1990) Radiation hybrid mapping: A somatic cell genetic method for constructing highresolution maps of mammalian chromosomes. Science 250, 245-250.
- De Simone J., Linde M., Tashian R.E. (1973) Evidence for linkage of carbonic anhydrase isozyme genes in the pig-tailed macaque, *Macaca nemestrina*. Nature New Biol. 242, 55-56.
- Deryusheva S.E., Loginova Yu.A., Chiryaeva O.G., Yaschak K., Smirnov A.F. (1997) Distribution of ribosomal RNA genes on chromosomes of domestic horse (*Equus caballus*) revealed by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Genetika 33, 1281-1286.
- Deys B.F. (1972) Demonstration of X-linkage of G6PD, HGPRT, and PGK in the horse by means of mule-mouse cell hybridization. *Ph. D. thesis, University of Leiden.*
- Dionne C.A., Jaye M. (1993) Chromosome assignment by polymerase chain reaction techniques. Methods Enzymol. 218, 402-413.
- Dixkens C., Klett C., Bruch J., Kollak A., Serov O.L., Zhdanova N., Vogel W., Hameister H. (1998) Zoo-FISH analysis in insectivores: "Evolution extols the virtue of the status quo". Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 80, 61-67.
- Dutrillaux B. (1979) Chromosomal evolution in primates: Tentative phylogeny from *Microcebus murinus* (Prosimian) to man. Hum. Genet. 48, 251-314.
- Echard G., Gellin J., Benne F., Gillois M. (1981) The gene map of the rabbit (*Oryctolagus cuniculus* L.) I. Synteny between the rabbit gene loci coding for HPRT, PGK, G6PD, and GLA: their localization on the X chromosome. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 29, 176-183.
- Echard G., Yerle M., Gellin J., Dalens M., Gillois M. (1986) Assignment of the major histocompatibility complex to the p1.4-q1.2 region of chromosome 7 in the pig (*Sus scrofa* domestica L.) by in situ hybridization. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 41, 126-128.

- Eicher E., Stern R., Womack J.E., Davisson M.T., Roderick T.H., Reynolds S.C. (1976) Evolution of mammalian carbonic anhydrase loci by tandem duplication: close linkage of *Car-1* and *Car-2* to the centromere region of chromosome 3 of the mouse. Biochem. Genet. 14, 651-660.
- El Nahas S.M., Oraby H.A., de Hondt H.A., Medhat A.M., Zahran M.M., Mahfouz E.R., Karim A.M. (1996) Synteny mapping in river buffalo. Mamm. Genome 7, 831-834.
- Ellegren H., Chowdhary B.P., Johansson M., Andersson L. (1994) Integrating the porcine physical and linkage map using cosmid-derived markers. Animal Genet. 25, 155-164.
- Evans H.J., Buckland R.A., Sumner A.T. (1973) Chromosome homology and heterochromatin in goat, sheep and ox studied by banding techniques. Chromosoma 42, 383-402.
- Fagundes V., Scalzi-Martin J. M., Sims K., Hozier J., Yonenaga-Yassuda Y. (1997) ZOO-FISH of a microdissection DNA library and G-banding patterns reveal the homoeology between the Brazilian rodents Akodon cursor and A. montensis. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 78, 224-228.
- Feil R., Walter J., Allen N.D., Reik W. (1994) Developmental control of allelic methylation in the imprinted mouse Igf2 and H19 genes. Development 120, 2933-2943.
- Ferretti L., Urquhart B.G., Eggen A., Olsaker I., Harlizius B., Castiglioni B., Mezzelani A., Solinas Toldo S., Thieven U., Zhang Y., Morgan A.L., Teres V.M., Schwerin M., Martin-Burriel I., Chowdhary B.P., Erhardt G., Nijman I.J., Cribiu E.P., Barendse W., Leveziel H., Fries R., Williams J.L. (1997) Cosmid-derived markers anchoring the bovine genetic map to the physical map. Mamm. Genome 8, 29-36.
- Flaherty L. and Herron B. (1998) The new kid on the block a whole genome mouse radiation hybrid panel. Mamm. Genome 9, 417-418.
- Fox R.R., van Zutphen L.F. (1979) Chromosomal homology of rabbit (Oryctolagus cuniculus) linkage group VI with rodent species. Genetics 93, 183-188.
- Frengen E., Thomsen P.D., Brede G., Solheim J., de Jong P.J., Prydz H. (1997) The gene cluster containing the LCAT gene is conserved between human and pig. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 76, 53-57.
- Fries R., Beckmann J.S., Georges M., Soller M., Womack J. (1989) The bovine gene map. Animal Genet. 20, 3-39.
- Frönicke L., Chowdhary B.P., Scherthan H., Gustavsson I. (1996) A comparative map of the procine and human genomes demonstrates ZOO-FISH and gene mapping-based chromosomal homologies. Mamm. Genome 7, 285-290.
- Frönicke L. and Scherthan H. (1997) Zoo-fluorescence in situ hybridization analysis of human and Indian muntjac karyotypes (*Muntiacus muntjak* vaginalis) reveals satellite DNA clusters at the margins of conserved syntenic segments. Chromosome Res. 5, 254-261.
- Frönicke L., Müller-Navia J., Romanakis K., Scherthan H. (1997) Zoo-FISH maps of the harbor seal (*Phoca vitulina*) and the putative ancestral carnivore karyotype. Chromosoma 106, 108-113.
- Fujii J., Otsu K., Zorzato F., Deleon S., Khanna V.K., Weiler J.E., O'Brien P.J., MacLennan D.H. (1991) Identification of a mutation in the porcine ryanodine receptor associated with malignant hyperthermia. Science 253, 448-451.
- Gallagher D.S.Jr., Womack J.E. (1992) Chromosome conservation in the Bovidae. J. Hered. 83, 287-298.

- Gallagher D.S.Jr., Derr J.N., Womack J.E. (1994) Chromosome conservation among the advanced pecorans and determination of the primitive bovid karyotype. J. Hered. 85, 204-210.
- GDB: http://www.hgmp.mrc.ac.uk/GenomeWeb/genome-db.html
- Geffrotin C., Popescu C.P., Cribiu E.P., Boscher J., Renard C., Chardon P., Vaiman M. (1984) Assignment of MHC in swine to chromosome 7 by in situ hybridization and serological typing. Ann. Genet. 27, 213-219.
- Gingrich J.C., Garnes J.A., Lee D.A., Boehrer D.M. (1996) Generation and mapping of human chromosome 2 microdissection clone-derived STSs. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 74, 272-276.
- Godard S., Vaiman D., Oustry A., Nocart M., Bertaud M., Guzylack S., Mériaux J.C., Cribiu E. P., Guérin G. (1997) Characterization, genetic and physical mapping analysis of 36 horse plasmid and cosmid-derived microsatellites. Mamm. Genome 8, 745-750.
- Godard S., Schibler L., Oustry A., Cribiu E.P., Guérin, G. (1998) Construction of a horse BAC library and cytogenetical assignment of 20 type I and type II markers. Mamm. Genome 9, 633-637.
- Goldammer T., Weikard R., Brunner R.M., Schwerin M. (1996) Generation of chromosome fragment specific bovine DNA sequences by microdissection and DOP-PCR. Mamm. Genome 7, 291-296.
- Goureau A., Yerle M., Schmitz A., Riquet J., Milan D., Pinton P., Frelat G., Gellin J. (1996) Human and porcine correspondence of chromosome segments using bidirectional chromosome painting. Genomics 36, 252-262.
- Gracia E., Ray M.E., Polymeropoulos M.H., Dehejia A., Meltzer P.S., Trent J.M. (1997) Isolation of chromosome-specific ESTs by microdissectionmediated cDNA capture. Genome Res. 7, 100-107.
- Graur D. (1993) Towards a molecular resolution of the ordinal phylogeny of the eutherian mammals. FEBS 325, 152-159.
- Graur D., Higgins D.G. (1994) Molecular evidence for the inclusion of Cetaceans within the order Artiodactyla. Mol. Biol. Evol. 11, 357-364.
- Gross S.J. and Harris H. (1975) New method for mapping genes in human chromosomes. Nature 255, 680-684.
- Gu F., Harbitz I., Chowdhary B.P., Chowdhary R., Gustavsson, I. (1992) Localization of the 6-phosphogluconate dehydrogenase (PGD) gene in horses by in situ hybridization. Hereditas 117, 93-95.
- Guan X.Y., Meltzer P.S., Cao J., Trent J.M. (1992) Rapid generation of regionspecific genomic clones by chromosome microdissection: isolation of DNA from a region frequently deleted in malignant melanoma. Genomics 14, 680-684.
- Guan X.Y., Trent J.M., Meltzer P.S. (1993) Generation of band-specific painting probes from a single microdissected chromosome. Hum. Mol. Genet. 2, 1117-1121.
- Guan X.Y., Xu J., Anzick S.L., Zhang H., Trent J.M., Meltzer P.S. (1996) Hybrid selection of transcribed sequences from microdissected DNA: isolation of genes within amplified region at 20q11-q13.2 in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 56, 3446-3450.
- Guérin G., Bailey E., Anderson I., Antczak D.F., Bell K., Bernoco D., Binns M.M., Bowling A.T., Brandon R., Chowlewinski G., Cothran E.G., Ellegren H., Förster M., Godard S., Horin P., Ketchum M., Lindgren G., McPartlan H., Mériaux J.-C., Mickelson J., Millon L.V., Neau M., Röed K., Sandberg K., Skow L., Stott M., Swinburne J., Van Haeringen H., Van Haeringen W.A., Zeigle J. (1998) Report of the International Equine Gene Mapping

Workshop: First linkage map. XXVI Internat. Conf. Anim. Genet., August 9-14, Auckland, New Zealand, p. 66.

- Haldane J.B.S. (1927) The comparative genetics of color in rodents and carnivora. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 2, 199-212.
- Hameister H, Klett C., Bruch J., Dixkens C., Vogel W., Christensen K. (1997) Zoo-FISH analysis: the American mink (*Mustela vison*) closely resembles the cat karyotype. Chromosome Res. 5, 5-11.
- Harbitz I., Chowdhary B.P., Saether H., Hauge J.G., Gustavsson I. (1990) A porcine genomic glucosephosphate isomerase probe detects a multiallelic restriction fragment length polymorphism assigned to chromosome 10pter in horse. Hereditas 112, 151-156).
- Hassanane M.S., Chaudhary R., Chowdhary B.P. (1998) Microdissected bovine X chromosome segment delineates homologous chromosomal regions in sheep, goat and buffalo. Chromosome Res. 6, 213-217.
- Hayes H. (1995) Chromosome painting with human chromosome-specific DNA libraries reveals the extent and distribution of conserved segments in bovine chromosomes. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 71, 168-174.
- Hayes H., Le Chalony C., Goubin G., Mercier D., Payen E., Bignon C., Kohno K. (1996) Localization of ZNF164, ZNF146, GGTA1, SOX2, PRLR and EEF2 on homoeologous cattle, sheep and goat chromosomes by fluorescent in situ hybridization and comparison with the human gene map. Cytogenet. Cell Genet., 72, 342-346.
- Heiskanen M., Karhu R., Hellsten E., Peltonen L., Kallioniemi O.P., Palotie A. (1994) High resolution mapping using fluorescence in situ hybridization to extended DNA fibers prepared from agarose-embedded cells. Biotechniques 17, 928-929, 932-933.
- Higgins M.J., Smilinich N.J., Sait S., Koenig A., Pongratz J., Gessler M., Richard III C.W., James M.R., Sanford J.P., Kim B.-W., Cattelane J., Nowak N.J., Winterpacht A., Zabel B.U., Munroe D.J., Bric E., Housman D.E., Jones C., Nakamura Y., Gerhard D.S., Shows T.B. (1994) An ordered NotI fragment map of human chromosome band 11p15. Genomics 23, 211-222.
- Hino O., Testa J.R., Buetow K.H., Taguchi T., Zhou J.Y., Bremer M., Bruzel A., Yeung R., Levan G., Levan K.K. (1993) Universal mapping probes and the origin of human chromosome 3. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 90, 730-734.
- Hirota K., Mashima S., Tozaki T., Sakagami M., Mukoyama H., Miura N. (1997) Sequence tagged sites on horse chromosomes. Arch. Zootec. 46, 3-7.
- Hutt F.B., Rickard G.C., Field R.A. (1948) Sex-linked hemophilia in dogs. J. Hered. 39, 2-9.
- Iannuzzi L., Skow L., Di Meo G.P., Gallagher D.S., Womack J.E. (1997) Comparative FISH-mapping of villin (VIL) gene in river buffalo, sheep and goat chromosomes. Chromosome Res. 5, 199-202.
- Ijdo J.W., Baldini A., Wells R.A., Ward D.C., Reeders S.T. (1992) FRA2B is distinct from inverted telomere repeat arrays at 2q13. Genomics 12, 833-835.
- ISCNH (1997) International System for Cytogenetic Nomenclature of the domestic Horse. Bowling A.T., Breen M., Chowdhary B.P., Hirota K., Lear T., Millon L.V., Ponce de Leon F.A., Raudsepp T., Stranzinger G. (Committee), Chromosome Res. 5, 433-443.
- Jauch A., Wienberg J., Stanyon R., Arnold N., Tofanelli S., Ishida T., Cremer T. (1992) Reconstruction of genomic rearrangements in great apes and gibbons by chromosome painting. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 8611-8615.

- Jiang Z., Priat C., Galibert F. (1998) Traced orthologous amplified sequence tags (TOASTs) and mammalian comparative maps. Mamm. Genome 9, 577-587.
- Johansson M., Ellegren H., Marklund L., Coppieters W., Andersson L. (1994) Linkage maps of porcine Chromosomes 3, 6, and 9 based on 31 polymorphic markers. Mamm. Genome 5, 785-790.
- Johansson M., Ellegren H., Andersson L. (1995) Comparative mapping reveals extensive linkage conservation - but with gene order rearrangements between the pig and human genomes. Genomics 25, 682-690.
- Johnson D.H., Kroisel P.M., Klapper H.J., Rosenkranz W. (1992) Microdissection of a human marker chromosome reveals its origin and a new family of centromeric repetitive DNA. Hum. Mol. Genet. 1, 741-747.
- Junien C., van Heyningen V. (1991) Report of the committee on the genetic constitution of chromosome 11. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 58, 459-554.
- Jörgensen P.F., Hyldgaard-Jensen J., Moustgaard J., Eikelenboom G. (1976) Phosphohexose isomerase (PHI) and porcine halothane sensitivity. Acta Veterinaria Scandinavica 17, 370-372.
- Kakoi H., Gawahara H. (1997) Genetic relationship between equine apolipoproteins A4 and A1. Anim. Genet. 28, 306-307.
- Kao F.-T. (1983) Somatic cell genetics and gene mapping. Internat. Rev. Cytol. 85, Academic Press, pp. 109-146.
- Kaplan R.D., Chapman V., Ruddle F.H. (1973) Electrophoretic variation of aamylase in two inbred strains of *Mus musculus*. J. Hered. 64, 155-157.
- Karakawa K., Takami K., Nakamura T., Jones C., Fujita S., Ohta T., Jinno Y., Niikawa N., Inazawa J., Ariyama T., Mori T., Takai S.-I., Nishisho I. (1993) Isolation of region-specific cosmids by hybridization with microdissection clones from human chromosome 10q11.1-q21.1. Genomics 17, 449-455.
- Kiel von K., Hameister H., Somssich I.E., Adolph S. (1985) Early replication banding reveals a strongly conserved functional pattern in mammalian chromosomes. Chromosoma 93, 69-76.
- Koehler U., Arnold N., Wienberg J., Tofanelli S., Stanyon R. (1995a) Genomic reorganization and disrupted chromosomal synteny in the Siamang (Hylobates syndactylus) revealed by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Am. J. Phys. Anthropol. 97, 37-47.
- Koehler U., Bigoni F., Wienberg J., Stanyon R. (1995b) Genomic reorganization in the Concolor Gibbon (*Hylobates concolor*) revealed by chromosome painting. Genomics 30, 287-292.
- Korstanje R., O'Brien P.C.M., Yang F., Bosma A.A., van Lith H.A., Ferguson-Smith M.A. (1998) Reciprocal chromosome painting between rabbit and human. Proc. XXVI Internat. Conf. Anim. Genet., August 9-14, Auckland, New Zealand, p. 73.
- Kraus J., Weber R.G., Cremer M., Seebacher T., Fischer C., Schurra C., Jauch A., Lichter P., Bensimon A., Cremer T. (1997) High-resolution comparative hybridization to combed DNA fibers. Hum. Genet. 99, 374-380.
- Laan M., Kallioniemi O.-P., Hellsten E., Alitalo K., Peltonen L., Palotie A. (1995) Mechanically stretched chromosomes as targets for high-resolution FISH mapping. Genome Res. 5, 13-20.
- Lalley P.A., Minna J.D., Francke U. (1978) Conservation of autosomal gene synteny groups in mouse and man. Nature 274, 160-163.
- Langford C.F., Telenius H., Miller N.G., Thomsen P.D., Tucker E.M. (1993) Preparation of chromosome-specific paints and complete assignment of chromosomes in the pig flow karyotype. Anim. Genet. 24, 261-267.

- Langford C.F., Fischer P.E., Binns M.M., Holmes N.G., Carter N.P. (1996) Chromosome-specific paints from a high-resolution flow karyotype of the dog. Chromosome Res. 4, 115-123.
- Lawrence J.B., Villnave C.A., Singer R.H. (1988) Sensitive, high-resolution chromatin and chromosome mapping in situ: presence and orientation of two closely integrated copies of EBV in a lymhoma line. Cell 52, 51-56.
- Lawrence J.B., Singer R.H., McNeil J.A. (1990) Interphase and metaphase resolution of different distances within the human dystrophin gene. Science 249, 928-932.
- Lawrence J.B., Carter K.C., Gerdes M.J. (1992) Extending the capabilities of interphase chromatin mapping. Nature Genet. 2, 171-172.
- Lear T.L., Trembicki K.A., Ennis R.B. (1992) Identification of equine chromosomes in horse x mouse somatic cell hybrids. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 61, 58-60.
- Lear T.L., Bailey E. (1997a) Chromosome evolution in equids: Zoo-FISH studies of the horse, donkey and Hartmann's zebra using human, whole chromosome paints. Plant & Animal Genome V, January 12-16, San Diego, CA, USA, p 133.
- Lear T.L., Bailey E. (1997b) Localization of the U2 linkage group of horses to ECA3 using chromosome painting. J. Hered. 88: 162-164.
- Lear T.L., Adams M.H., Sullivan N.D., McDowell K.J., Bailey E. (1998a) Assignment of the horse progesterone receptor (PGR) and estrogen receptor (ESR1) genes to horse chromosomes 7 and 31, respectively, by in situ hybridization. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 82, 110-111.
- Lear T.L., Breen M., Ponce de Leon F.A., Coogle L., Ferguson E.M., Chambers T.M., Bailey E. (1998b) Cloning and chromosomal localization of MX1 and ETS2 to chromosome 26 of the horse (*Equus caballus*). Chromosome Res 6, 333-335.
- Lear T.L., Coogle L.D., Bailey E. (1998c) Assignment of the horse mitochondrial glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase 2 (GOT2) and v-kit Hardy-Zuckerman 4 feline sarcoma viral oncogene homolog (KIT) to horse chromosome 3 by in situ hybridization. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 82, 112-113.
- Lear T.L., Brandon R., Masel A., Bell K., Bailey E. (1998d) Molecular cloning and chromosomal localization of horse alpha-1-antitrypsin (AAT), beta lactoglobulin 1 and 2 (BLG1, BLG2), lactotransferrin (LTF) and transferrin (TF). Proc. XXVI Internat. Conf. Anim. Genet., August 9-14, Auckland, New Zealand, p. 67.
- Lebo R.V. (1982) Chromosome sorting and DNA sequence localization. Cytometry 3, 145-154.
- Lebo R.V., Bastian A.M. (1982) Design and operation of a dual laser chromosome sorter. Cytometry 3, 213-219.
- Lemieux N., Dutrillaux B. (1992) New gene assignments to rabbit chromosomes; implications for chromosome evolution. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 61, 132-134.
- Levan G., Szpirer J., Szpirer C., Klinga K., Hanson C., Islam M.Q. (1991) The gene map of the Norway rat (*Rattus norvegicus*) and comparative mapping with mouse and man. Genomics 10, 699-718.
- Levan G., Klinga-Levan K., Szpirer J, Szpirer C. (1993) Rat gene map and comparative mapping with the mouse and other species. Transplant. Proc. 25, 2775-2776.
- Lichter P., Boyle A.L., Cremer T., Ward D.C. (1991) Analysis of genes and chromosomes by non-isotopic in situ hybridization. Genet. Anal. Tech. Appl. 8, 24-35.

- Lichter P., Cremer T. (1992) Chromosome analysis by non-isotopic in situ hybridization. *Human Cytogenetics: A practical Approach*. Oxford, IRL Press, pp. 157-192.
- Lindgren G., Sandberg K., Persson H., Marklund S., Breen M., Sandgren B., Carlstén J., Ellegren H. (1998) A primary male autosomal linkage map of the horse genome. Genome Res. 8, 951-966.
- Lindsay E.H., Opdyke N.D., Johnson N.M. (1980) Pliocene dispersal of the horse *Equus* and late Cenozoic mammalian dispersal events. Nature 287, 135-138.
- Liu W.S., Harbitz I., Gustavsson I., Chowdhary B.P. (1998) Mapping of the porcine erythropoietin gene to chromosome 3p16-p15 and ordering of four related subclones by fiber-FISH and DNA-combing. Hereditas 128, 77-81.
- Lüdecke H.J., Senger G., Claussen U., Horsthemke B. (1989) Cloning defined regions of the human genome by microdissection of banded chromosomes and enzymatic amplification. Nature 338, 348-350.
- Lyons L.A., Raymond M.M., O'Brien S.J. (1994) Comparative genomics: The next generation. Animal Biotech. 5, 103-111.
- Lyons L.A., Laughlin T.F., Copeland N.G., Jenkins N.A., Womack J.E., O'Brien S.J. (1997) Comparative anchor tagged sequences (CATS) for integrative mapping of mammalian genomes. Nature Genet. 15, 47-56.
- Ma R.Z., van Eijk M.J.T., Beever J.E., Guérin G., Mummery C.L., Lewin H.A. (1998) Comparative analysis of 82 expressed sequence tags from a cattle ovary cDNA library. Mamm. Genome 9, 545-549.
- Marti E., Binns M. (1998) Horse genome mapping: a new era in horse genetics? Equine Vet. J. 30, 13-17.
- Mathai C.K., Ohno S., Beutler E. (1966) Sex-linkage of the glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase gene in Equidae. Nature 210, 115-116.
- Mazzarella R., Montanaro V., Kere J., Reinbold R., Ciccodicola A., D'Urso M., Schlessinger D. (1992) Conserved sequence-tagged sites: a phylogenetic approach to genome mapping. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89, 3681-3685.
- McCarthy L. (1996) Whole genome radiation hybrid mapping. Trends Genet. 12, 491-493.
- McCarthy L.C., Terrett J., Davis M.E., Knights C.J., Smith A.L., Critcher R., Schmitt K., Hudson J., Spurr N.K., Goodfellow P.N. (1997) A firstgeneration whole genome-radiation hybrid map spanning the mouse genome. Genome Res. 7, 1153-1161.
- McCarthy T.V., Healy J.M., Heffron J.J., Lehane M., Deufel T., Lehmann-Horn F., Farrall M., Johnson K. (1990) Localization of the malignant hyperthermia susceptibility locus to human chromosome 19q12-13.2. Nature 343, 562-564.
- Meltzer P.S., Guan X.Y., Su Y.A., Gracia E., Trent J.M. (1997) Identification of region specific genes by chromosome microdissection. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 93, 29-32.
- Merritt A.D., Rivas M.L., Ward J.C. (1972) Evidence for close linkage of human amylase loci. Nature New Biol. 239, 243-244.
- Milan D., Riquet J., Yerle M., Goureau A., Schmitz A., Cribiu E. P., Frelat G., Gellin J. (1996) Homologous and heterologous FISH painting with PARM-PCR chromosome-specific probes in mammals. Mamm. Genome 7, 194-199.
- Millon L.V., Bowling A.T., Bickel L.A. (1993) Fluorescence in situ hybridization of C3 and 18SrDNA to horse chromosomes. Proc. 8th North American Colloq. on Domestic Animal Cytogenet. and Gene Mapping, Guelph, p. 163.

- Morescalchi M.A., Schempp W., Consigliere S., Bigoni F., Wienberg J., Stanyon R. (1997) Mapping chromosomal homology between humans and the black-handed spider monkey by fluorescence *in situ* hybridization. Chrom. Res. 5, 527-536.
- Morgan T.H. (1910) Sex-linked inheritance in *Drosophila*. Science 32, 120-122.
- Müller S., O'Brien P.C.M., Ferguson-Smith M.A., Wienberg J. (1997) Reciprocal chromosome painting between human and prosimians (*Eulemur* macaco macaco and E. fulvus mayottensis). Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 78, 260-271.
- Müller-Navia J., Nebel A., Schleiermacher E. (1995) Complete and precise characterization of marker chromosomes by application of microdissection in prenatal diagnosis. Hum. Genet. 96, 661-667.
- Mäkinen A., Chowdhary B., Mahdy E., Andersson L., Gustavsson I. (1989) Localisation of the equine major hitocompatility complex (ELA) to chromosome 20 by in situ hybridization. Hereditas 110, 93-96.
- Nadeau J.H. (1989) Maps of linkage and synteny homologies between mouse and man. TIG 5, 82-86.
- Nash W.G., O'Brien S.J. (1982) Conserved regions of homologous G-banded chromosomes between orders in mammalian evolution: carnivores and primates. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 79, 6631-6635.
- Nowak (1994) Mining treasures from "junk DNA". Science 263, 608-610.
- O'Brien S.J. (Ed.) Genetic Maps: Nonhuman Vertebrates. (1990) Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, New York.
- O'Brien S.J. (1991) Mammalian genome mapping: lessons and prospects. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 1, 105-111.
- O'Brien S.J., Nash W.G. (1982) Genetic mapping in mammals: Chromosome map of domestic cat. Science 216, 257-265.
- O'Brien S.J., Seuánez H.N., Womack J.E. (1988) Mammalian genome organization: An evolutionary view. Ann. Rev. Genet. 22, 323-352.
- O'Brien S.J., Womack J.E., Lyons L.A., Moore K.J., Jenkins N.A., Copeland N.G. (1993) Anchored reference loci for comparative genome mapping in mammals. Nature Genet. 3, 103-112.
- O'Brien S.J., Cevario S.J., Martenson J.S., Thompson M.A., Nash W.G., Chang E., Graves J.A.M., Spencer J.A., Cho K.-W., Tsujimoto H., Lyons L.A. (1997a) Comparative gene mapping in the domestic cat (*Felis catus*). J. Hered. 88, 408-414.
- O'Brien S.J., Wienberg J., Lyons L.A. (1997b) Comparative genomics: lesson from cats. TIG 13, 393-399.
- Oakenfull E.A., Buckle V.J., Clegg J.B. (1993) Localization of the horse (*Equus caballus*) alpha-globin gene complex to chromosome 13 by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 62, 136-138.
- Ohno S. Evolution by Gene Duplication. (1970) Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York.
- Ohno S., Becak W., Becak M.L. (1964) X-autosome ratio and the behaviour pattern of individual X-chromosomes in placental mammals. Chromosoma 15, 14-30.
- Otte K., Engström W. (1994) Insulin-like growth factor II in the horse: determination of a cDNA nucleotide sequence and expression in fetal and adult tissues. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 96, 270-275.
- Otte K., Rozell B., Gessbo Å., Engström W. (1996) Cloning and sequencing of an equine insulin-like growth factor I cDNA and its expression in fetal and adult tissues. Gen. Comp. Endocrinol. 102, 11-15.

- Palotie A., Heiskanen M., Laan M., Horelli-Kuitunen N. (1996) Highresolution fluorescence in situ hybridization: a new approach in genome mapping. Ann. Med. 28, 101-106.
- Pathak S. and Stock A.D. (1974) The X chromosome of mammals: Karyological homology as revealed by banding techniques. Genetics 78, 703-714.
- PigBase: http://www.ri.bbsrc.ac.uk/pigmap/pigbase/pigbase.html
- Pinkel D., Straume T., Gray J. (1986) Cytogenetic analysis using quantitative, high sensitivity, fluorescence hybridization. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83, 2934-2938.
- Piumi F., Schibler L., Vaiman D., Oustry A., Cribiu E.P. (1998) Comparative cytogenetic mapping reveals chromosome rearrangements between the X chromosomes of two closely related mammalian species (cattle and goats). Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 81, 36-41.
- Ponce De Leon A., Ambady S., Hawkins G. A., Kappes S. M., Bishop M. D., Robl J. M., Beattie C. W. (1996) Development of bovine X chromosome linkage group and painting probes to assess cattle, sheep, and goat X chromosome segment homologies. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 3450-3454.
- Power M.M. (1984) Comparative R banding in the horse, donkey and zebra. 6th Eur. Colloq. Cytogenet. Domest. Anim., July 16-20, Zürich, Switzerland, pp. 145-155.
- Prakash B., Kuosku V., Olsaker I., Gustavsson I., Chowdhary B.P. (1996) Comparative FISH mapping of bovine cosmids to reindeer chromosomes demonstrates conservation of the X-chromosome. Chromosome Res. 4, 214-217.
- Prakash B., Olsaker I., Gustavsson I., Chowdhary B.P. (1997) FISH mapping of three bovine cosmids to cattle, goat, sheep and buffalo X chromosomes. Hereditas 126,115-119.
- Qumsiyeh M.B. (1994) Evolution of number and morphology of mammalian chromosomes. J. Hered. 85, 455-465.
- Rabbitts P., Impey H., Heppell-Parton A., Langford C., Tease C., Lowe N., Bailey D., Ferguson-Smith M., Carter N. (1995) Chromosome specific paints from a high resolution flow karyotype of the mouse. Nature Genet. 9, 369-375.
- Rabin M., Fries R., Singer D., Ruddle F.H. (1985) Assignment of the porcine major histocompatibility complex to chromosome 7 by in situ hybridization. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 39, 206-209.
- Rajcan-Separovic E., Wang H.S., Speevak M.D., Janes L., Korneluk R.G., Wakasa K., Ikeda J.E. (1995) Identification of the origin of double minutes in normal human cells by laser-based chromosome microdissection approach. Hum. Genet. 96, 39-43.
- Ramsay G. (1998) DNA chips: state-of-the art. Nature Biotechnol. 16, 40-44.
- Raney N.E., Graves K.T., Cothran E.G., Bailey E., Coogle L. (1998) Synteny mapping of the horse using a heterohybridoma panel. Plant and Animal Genome VI, January 18-22, San Diego, CA, USA, p.160.
- Rasmusen B.A. (1981) Linkage of genes for PHI, halothane sensitivity, A-O inhibition, H red blood cell antigens and 6-PGD variants in pigs. Anim. Blood Grps. Biochem. Genet. 12, 207-209.
- Rettenberger G., Klett C., Zechner U., Kunz J., Vogl W., Hameister H. (1995a) Visualization of the conservation of synteny between humans and pigs by heterologous chromosomal painting. Genomics 26, 372-378.

- Rettenberger G., Klett Ch., Zechner U., Bruch J., Just W., Vogel W., Hameister H. (1995b) Zoo-FISH analysis: cat and human karyotypes closely resemble the putative ancestral mammalian karyotype. Chromosome Res. 3, 479-486.
- Rettenberger G., Abdo G., Stranzinger G. (1996) ZOO-FISH analysis in the horse, *Equus caballus*, detects regions homologous to human chromosomes 3 and 14. J. Anim. Breed. Genet. 113, 145-148.
- Richard F., Lombard M., Dutrillaux B. (1996) ZOO-FISH suggests a complete homology between human and Capuchin monkey (Platyrrhini) euchromatin. Genomics 36, 417-423.
- Ried T., Schröck E., Ning Y., Wienberg J. (1998) Chromosome painting: a useful art. Hum. Mol. Genet. 7, 1619-1626.
- Rohrer G.A., Alexander L.J., Hu Z., Smith T.P., Keele J.W., Beattie C.W. (1996) A comprehensive map of the porcine genome. Genome Res. 6, 371-391.
- Rubtsov N., Senger G., Kuzcera H., Neumann A., Kelbova C., Junker K., Beensen V., Claussen U. (1996) Interstitial deletion of chromosome 6q: precise definition of the breakpoints by microdissection, DNA amplification, and reverse painting. Hum. Genet. 97, 705-709.
- Rudolph J.A., Spier S.J., Byrns G., Rojas C.V., Bernoco D., Hoffman E.P. (1992) Periodic paralysis in quarter horses: a sodium channel mutation disseminated by selective breeding. Nature Genet. 2, 144-147.
- Ryder O.A., Epel N.C., Benirschke K. (1978) Chromosome banding studies of the Equidae. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 20, 323-350.
- Rønne M (1992) Putative fragile sites in the horse karyotype. Hereditas 117, 127-136.
- Sandberg K. (1974) Linkage between the K blood group locus and the 6-PGD locus in horses. Anim. Blood Grps. Biochem. Genet. 5, 137-141.
- Sandberg K., Andersson L. (1984) Genetic linkage in the horse. Hereditas 100, 199-208.
- Sandberg K., Andersson L. (1993) Horse (Equus caballus). In: O'Brien J., ed. Genetic Maps. New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, pp. 4.276-4.278.
- Santschi E.M., Purdy A.K., Valberg S.J., Vrotsos P.D., Kaese H., Mickelson J.R. (1998) Endothelin receptor B polymorphism associated with lethal white foal syndrome in horses. Mamm. Genome 9, 306-309.
- Sawyer J.R., Hozier J.C. (1986) High resolution of mouse chromosomes: banding conservation between man and mouse. Science 232, 1632-1635.
- Scalenghe F., Turco E., Edstrom J.E., Pirrotta V., Melli M. (1981) Microdissection and cloning of DNA from a specific region of Drosophila melanogaster polytene chromosomes. Chromosoma 82, 205-216.
- Scalzi J.M., Hozier J.C. (1998) Comparative genome mapping: mouse and rat homologies revealed by fluorescence in situ hybridization. Genomics 47, 44-51.
- Schena M., Heller R.A., Theriault T.P., Konrad K., Lachenmeier E., Davis R.W. (1998) Microarrays: biotechnology's discovery platform for functional genomics. Trends Biotechnol. 16, 301-306.
- Scherthan H., Cremer T., Arnason U., Weier H.-U., Lima-de-Faria A., Frönicke L. (1994) Comparative chromosome painting discloses homologous segments in distantly related mammals. Nature Genet. 6, 342-347.
- Schibler L., Vaiman D., Oustry A., Giraud-Delville C., Cribiu E.P. (1998) Comparative gene mapping: A fine-scale survey of chromosome rearrangements between ruminants and humans. Genome Res. 8, 901-915.

- Schmitz A., Oustry A., Vaiman D., Chaput B., Frelat G., Cribiu E.P. (1998) Comparative karyotype of pig and cattle using whole chromosome painting probes. Hereditas 128, 257-263.
- Schmutz S.M., Berryere T.G., Moker J.S., Thue T.D., Winkelman D.C. (1994) Gene mapping from a bovine 1;29 DNA library prepared with chromosome microdissection. Mamm. Genome 5, 138-141.
- Schook L.B., Paszek A.A., Louis C., Murtaugh M., Beattie C.W., Rohrer G.A., Alexander L.J., Wheeler M.B. (1994) Mapping the swine genome: take home lessons from mouse and man. Anim. Biotech. 5, 129-134.
- Senger G., Ludecke H.J., Horsthemke B., Claussen U. (1990) Microdissection of banded human chromosomes. Hum. Genet. 84, 507-511.
- Shaw E.M., Otis J.S., Lamont S.J., Guise K.S., Shoffner R.N. (1996) Gene mapping by chromosome microdissection and microisolation in the chicken. Poultry Sci. 75, 6-12.
- Sherlock J.K., Griffin D.K., Delhanty J.D.A., Parrington J.M. (1996) Homologies between human and Marmoset (*Callithrix jacchus*) chromosomes revealed by comparative chromosome painting. Genomics 33, 214-219.
- Shin E.K., Perryman L.E., Meek K. (1997) A kinase-negative mutation of DNA-PK(CS) in equine SCID results in defective coding and signal joint formation. J. Immunol. 158, 3565-3569.
- Shiue Y.-L., Bickel L.A., Caetano A.R., Millon L.V., Clark R.S., Eggleston M.L., Michelmore R., Bailey E., Guérin G., Godard S., Mickelson J.R., Valberg S.J., Murray J.D., Bowling A.T. (1998) A synteny map of the horse genome comprised of 240 microsatellite and RAPD markers. Animal Genet. in press.
- Sinnott E.W., Dunn L.C., Dobzhansky Th. (1950) Principles of Genetics. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York, Toronto, London, pp. 203-231.
- Sjöberg A., Peelman L.J., Chowdhary B.P. (1997a) Application of three different methods to analyse fibre-FISH results obtained using four lambda clones from the porcine MHC III region. Chromosome Res. 5, 247-253.
- Sjöberg A., Peelman L.J., Chowdhary B.P. (1997b) Development of a refined comparative map between SSC13 and HSA3 by FISH mapping of Type I markers. 10th North American Colloq. Gene Mapping and Cytogenet in Human and Dom. Sp., July 14-18, Apalachicola, FL, USA, p.15.
- Snyder W.L. (1949) The linkage relations of sickle-cell anemia. Proc. VIII Int. Congress Genetics, Stockholm.
- Solinas-Toldo S., Lengauer C., Fries R. (1995) Comparative genome map of human and cattle. Genomics 27, 489-496.
- Stanyon R., Wienberg J., Romagno D., Bigoni F., Jauch A., Cremer T. (1992) Molecular and classical cytogenetic analyses demonstrate an apomorphic reciprocal chromosomal translocation in *Gorilla gorilla*. Am. J. Physical. Anthropol. 88, 245-250.
- Stewart E.A., McKusick K.B., Aggarwal A., Bajorek E., Brady S. (1997) An STS-based radiation hybrid map of the human genome. Genome Res. 7, 422-433.
- Stoneking M., Soodyall H. (1996) Human evolution and the mitochondrial genome. Curr. Opin. Genet. Devel. 6, 731-736.
- Sumner A.T. (1990) Chromosome Banding. Unwin Hyman Ltd., London, pp. 320-331.
- Swinburne J., Breen M., Lockhart L., Marti E., Gerstenberg C., Allen W.R., Binns M.M. (1998) Genotyping on an equine full-sibling family for linkage

map development. XXVI Internat. Conf. Anim. Genet., August 9-14, Auckland, New Zealand, p. 66.

- Szpirer C., Szpirer J., Van Vooren P., Tissir F., Simon J.S., Koike G., Jacob H.J., Lander E.S., Helou K., Klinga-Levan K., Levan G. (1998) Gene-based anchoring of the rat genetic linkage and cytogenetic maps: new regional localizations, orientation of the linkage groups, and insights into mammalian chromosome evolution. Mamm. Genome 9, 721-734.
- Telenius H., Pelmear A.H., Tunnacliffe A., Carter N.P., Behmel A., Ferguson-Smith M.A., Nordenskjold M., Pfragner R., Ponder B. (1992) Cytogenetic analysis by chromosome painting using DOP-PCR amplified flow-sorted chromosomes. Genes Chrom. Cancer 4, 257-263.
- Thomsen P.D., Winterø A.K., Fredholm M. (1998) Chromosomal assignments of 19 porcine cDNA sequences by FISH. Mamm. Genome 9, 394-396.
- Toder R., Wilcox S.A., Smithwick M., Graves J.A. (1996) The human/mouse imprinted genes IGF2, H19, SNRPN and ZNF127 map to two conserved autosomal clusters in a marsupial. Chromosome Res. 4, 295-300.
- Toder R., O'Neill R.J.W., Wienberg J., O'Brien P.C.M., Voullaire L., Marshall-Graves J.A. (1997) Comparative chromosome painting between two marsupials: origins of an XX/XY₁Y₂ sex chromosome system. Mamm. Genome 8, 418-422.
- Tozaki T., Hirota K., Mashima S., Tomita M., Mukoyama H. (1998) Cloning and chracterization of the equine *F18* gene, which has a novel exon. Animal Genet. 29, 381-384.
- Trask B.J. (1991a) Gene mapping by in situ hybridization. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 1, 82-87.
- Trask B.J. (1991b) Fluorescence in situ hybridization: applications in cytogenetics and gene mapping. Trends Genet. 7, 149-154.
- Trask B.J., Allen S., Massa H., Fertitta A., Sachs R., van den Engh G., Wu M. (1993) Studies of metaphase and interphase chromosomes using fluorescence in situ hybridization. Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol. 58, 767-775.
- Trujillo J.M., Walden B., O'Neil P., Anstall H.B. (1965) Sex-linkage of glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase in the horse and donkey. Science 148, 1603-1604.
- Vezuli A., Hauwy M., Warter S., Rumpler Y. (1997) Chromosome painting: a method for testing chromosomal changes in lemur evolution. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 78, 147-152.
- Vooijs M., Yu L.-C., Tkachuk D., Pinkel D., Johnson D., Gray J.W. (1993) Libraries for each human chromosome, constructed from sorter-enriched chromosomes by using linker-adaptor PCR. Am. J. Hum. Genet. 52, 586-597.
- Weikard R., Goldammer T., Kuhn C., Barendse W., Schwerin M. (1997) Targeted development of microsatellite markers from the defined region of bovine chromosome 6q21-31. Mamm. Genome 8, 836-840.
- Wienberg J., Jauch A., Stanyon R., Cremer T. (1990) Molecular cytotaxonomy of primates by chromosomal in situ suppression hybridization. Genomics 8, 347-50.
- Wienberg J., Stanyon R., Jauch A., Cremer T. (1992) Homologies in human and *Macaca fuscata* chromosomes revealed by in situ suppression hybridization with human chromosome specific DNA libraries. Chromosoma 101, 265-270.
- Wienberg J., Jauch A., Lüdecke H.-J., Senger G., Horsthemke B., Claussen U., Cremer T., Arnold N., Lengauer C. (1994) The origin of human

chromosome 2 analyzed by comparative chromosome mapping with a DNA microlibrary. Chromosome Res. 2, 405-410.

- Wienberg J., Stanyon R. (1995) Chromosome painting in mammals as an approach to comparative genomics. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 5, 792-797.
- Wienberg J., Stanyon R. (1997) Comparative painting of mammalian chromosomes. Curr. Opin. Genet. Devel. 7, 784-791.
- Wienberg J., Stanyon R., Nash W.G., O'Brien P.C.M., Yang, F., O'Brien S.J., Ferguson-Smith M.A. (1997) Conservation of human vs. feline genome organization revealed by reciprocal chromosome painting. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 77, 211-217.
- Williams H., Richards C.M., Konfortov B.A., Miller J.R., Tucker E.M. (1993) Synteny mapping in the horse using horse-mouse heterohybridomas. Animal. Genet. 24, 257-260.
- Womack J.E. (1993) Symposium: Bovine gene mapping: the goals and status of the bovine gene map. J. Dairy Sci. 76, 1199-1203.
- Womack J.E., Sharp M. (1976) Comparative autosomal linkage in mammals: Genetics of esterases in *Mus musculus* and *Rattus norvegicus*. Genetics 82, 665-675.
- Womack J.E., Moll Y.D. (1986) Gene map of the cow: conservation of linkage with mouse and man. J. Hered. 77, 1-7.
- Womack J.E., Kata S.R. (1995) Bovine genome mapping: evolutionary inference and the power of comparative genomics. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 5, 725-733.
- Womack J.E., Johnson J.S., Owens E.K., Rexroad III C.E., Schläpfer J., Yang Y. (1997) A whole genome radiation hybrid panel for bovine gene mapping. Mamm. Genome 8, 854-856.
- Xiao C., Tsuchiya K., Sutou S. (1998) Cloning and mapping of bovine ZFX gene to the long arm of the X-chromosome (Xq34) and homologous mapping of ZFY gene to the distal region of the short arm of the bovine (Yp13), ovine (Yp12-p13), and caprine (Yp12-p13) Y-chromosome. Mamm. Genome 9, 125-130.
- Xu X., Gullberg A., Arnason U. (1996) The complete mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) of the donkey and mtDNA comparisons among four closely related mammalian species-pairs. J. Mol. Evol. 43, 438-446.
- Yang F., Carter N.P., Shi L., Ferguson-Smith M.A. (1995) A comparative study of karyotypes of muntjacs by chromosome painting. Chromosoma 103, 642-652.
- Yang F., O'Brien P.C.M., Wienberg J., Ferguson-Smith M.A. (1997) A reappraisal of the tandem fusion theory of karyotype evolution in the Indian muntjac using chromosome painting. Chromosome Res. 5, 109-117.
- Yang Y.-P., Rexroad III C.E., Schläpfer J., Womack J.E. (1998) An integrated radiation hybrid map of bovine chromosome 19 and ordered comparative mapping with human chromosome 17. Genomics 48, 93-99.
- Yang Y.P., Womack J.E. (1998) Parallel radiation hybrid mapping: A powerful tool for high-resolution genomic comparison. Genome Res. 8, 731-736.
- Yerle M., Schmitz A., Milan D., Chaput B., Monteagudo L., Vaiman M., Frelat G., Gellin J. (1993) Accurate characterization of porcine bivariate flow karyotype by PCR and fluorescence in situ hybridization. Genomics 16, 97-103.
- Yerle M., Echard G., Robic A., Mairal A., Dubut-Fontana C., Riquet J., Pinton P., Milan D., Lahbib-Mansais Y., Gellin J. (1996) A somatic cell hybrid panel for pig regional gene mapping characterized by molecular cytogenetics. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 73, 194-202.

- Yerle M., Pinton P., Robic A., Delcros C., Hawken R., Alexander L., Beattie C., Schook L., Milan D., Gellin J. (1998) Construction of a whole genome radiation hybrid panel for high-resolution gene mapping in pigs. Proc. XXVI Internat. Conf. On Anim. Genet., August 9-14, Auckland, New Zealand, p. 60.
- Yu D., Yang F., Liu R. (1997) A comparative chromosome map between human and *Hylobates hoolock* built by chromosome painting. Chuan Hsuech Pao 24, 417-423.
- Yu J., Tong S., Shen Y., Kao F.T. (1997) Gene identification and DNA sequence analysis in the GC-poor 20 megabase region of human chromosome 21. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94, 6862-6867.
- Zhang J., Cui P., Glatfelter A.A., Cummings L.M., Meltzer P.S., Trent J.M. (1995) Microdissection based cloning of a translocation breakpoint in a human malignant melanoma. Cancer Res. 55, 4640-4645.
- Zijlstra C., Bosma A.A., de Haan N.A., Mellink C. (1996) Construction of a cytogenetically characterized porcine somatic cell hybrid panel and its use as a mapping tool. Mamm. Genome 7, 280-284.
- Zimmer R., King W.A., Verrinder Gibbins A.M. (1997) Generation of chicken Z-chromosome painting probes by microdissection for screening largeinsert genomic libraries. Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 78, 124-130.



Acknowledgements

The studies summarized in this thesis were carried out in the Department of Animal Breeding and Genetics of the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Financial support received from the Swedish Institute, Erik Philip-Sörensen Foundation and Swedish Council for Forestry and Agricultural Research is gratefully acknowledged.

First of all I would like to express my sincere, infinite thanks to Dr. Bhanu P. Chowdhary, my main supervisor, for his guidance, brilliant ideas, all possible support, endless patience and friendship. Bhanu, you are the best supervisor one could ever have! Besides scientific guidance you managed also to brush my Finno-Ugric English so, that some things became understandable even to other people.

I am deeply indebted to *Prof. Leif Andersson*, my co-supervisor, for sharing his bright ideas and for continuous support during all these years.

I am very grateful to *Prof. Birgitta Danell* for her constant encouragement, help and support whenever needed.

During these study years I have been lucky to collaborate with many nice people from different laboratories - in Ultuna, BMC, Pathology Department, Genetic Centre and University of Kaiserslautern, Germany. My sincere thanks to all of you!

In particular I would like to express my deep gratitude to:

- all the "fishermen" in our small *in situ* group, especially to the closest FISHing friends *Anna Törnsten* and *Renuka Chaudhary*. Without your friendship and humor no good fish could have ever been caught. Dear Anna and Renu, you showed me that Sweden is not just the lab and continuous pipetting, but something much, much more - warm people, interesting places, beautiful nature! Your homes helped to cure home-sickness and to fill long lonely evenings far from my family.

- all the co-authors: *Harry Scherthan* and *Lutz Frönicke* from Kaiserslautern for constructive co-Zoo-FISHing, *Kerstin Otte* and *Björn Rozell* from the Pathology Department for their friendly lab atmosphere and creative collaboration, *Gérard Guérin* and *Sophie Godard* from Jouy-en-Josas for sharing their valuable experience and probes with us. Special thanks to *James Kijas* who has been not only a colleague and co-author, but also a patient and enthusiastic teacher. Your evergreen optimism, James, is just great! Thank you also for critical comments on the manuscript of this thesis.

- Lena Andersson-Eklund for always finding time in her busy work schedule to help with good advice and just the right paper from the complicated labyrinth of Ph.D. network.

- all the "Husdjursgenetik" people in BMC. It was a great pleasure to work in your lab. In particular I would like to thank *Jin-Tae Jeon* for always having good ideas and helpful hand to solve even impossible problems, *Gabiella Lindgren* with whom we have tried to "talk to horses", and *Anna-Karin Fridolfsson* whose active mind and open eyes have helped to bring fresh air into everyday lab routine.

- Gudrun Wieslander for never failing help, support and warm sense of humor. Dear Gudrun, whenever I get lost in a foreign place, I think about you!

- all the neighbours in our department in Ultuna. Specially I'd like to mention Anne Lundén, Kaj Sandberg, Stefan Marklund, Lieuwe Appel and Birgitta Malmfors for giving company during long and dark evening hours and the weekends. It is really encouraging to realize that there are some more people who have no watch or calendar. Thanks are also due to Kumar Juneja for always sharing his knowledge and experience and for friendly company, to Annika Dahlén who patiently shared the PCR machine with us and to Thomas Johansson for kind help in isolating horse DNA.

- the secretaries, *Britt-Marie Gillberg* and *Monica Jansson*, for everyday friendly smile and help with all possible papers.

- Håkan Hellder. Even dark and gloomy winter mornings become sunny after hearing your "Hej!".

- *Mari Wallbring* and *Heléne Gille* from "OG Stallet" for helping with horse blood samples whenever needed. I am also grateful to all the Klinikcentrum horses for never saying a bad word when they saw me coming with vacutainers.

- all the dogs of our department for unconditional tolerance and friendly attitude.

- colleagues and friends from my Estonian lab. Your moral support and e-mail greetings have been a great help during these years. And sure, sooner or later I will join your friendly company again!

- my Estonian friends in Uppsala, *Ivar Puura* and *Signe Kask* for just being as you are - bright, full of jokes and innate ethics.

Words are too poor to express my deep and warm gratitude to my family in Estonia, who have been supporting my stay away from home and encouraging to overcome all difficulties. Without your love and help this thesis never became a reality! It is dedicated to you!

And finally I would like to express my sincere admiration to Gary Larson whose creative mind from the "far side" has helped to make at least some things clear here around: "horse is a horse, of course, of course...".

Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae

presents doctoral theses from the faculty of agriculture, landscape architecture and horticulture, the faculty of forestry and the faculty of veterinary medicine at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Each faculty has its own subseries, Agraria, Silvestria and Veterinaria, respectively, with separate numbering.

ISSN 1401-6257 ISBN 91-576-5405-0